
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 

AGENDA 

September 28, 2010 



Page 1 of 2 

CITY OF OAK HARBOR       AGENDA 
PLANNING COMMISSION September 28, 2010 
REGULAR MEETING   7:30 P.M. 
CITY HALL – COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
 
ROLL CALL: NEIL      JENSEN    FAKKEMA      
 

WASINGER       DALE    OLIVER   
    
   WALLIN   
 
 Page 4 
1. Approval of Minutes – August 24, 2010 
 
  
2. Public Comment – Planning Commission will accept public comment for items not 

otherwise on the agenda for the first 15 minutes of the Planning Commission meeting.  
 
Page 31 

3. SHORELINE SUBSTANTIAL DEVELOPMENT CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT – SE 
PIONEER WAY – Public Hearing 
The Planning Commission will hold a public hearing on this proposal.  The City is 
proposing to improve SE Pioneer Way in Downtown Oak Harbor. The proposed project 
will add multi-modal and pedestrian-friendly street improvements and streetscape 
enhancements. The project includes the removal and replacement of the entire surface 
street cross section, storm drainage conveyance system, and sanitary sewer system 
within the limits of the existing Pioneer Way right-of-way. In addition, streetscape 
improvements include widening sidewalks, providing on-street parking, and adding 
social gathering spaces. Existing overhead utilities will be located underground. The 
Planning Commission will forward a recommendation to the City Council. 

 
 Page 100 
4. ADULT ENTERTAINMENT INTERIM ORDINANCE – Public Hearing 

Planning Commission will continue a public hearing to consider additional information 
regarding the Interim Adult Entertainment Ordinance.  The Public Hearing was opened 
on July 27th and will be continued to the October 26th Planning Commission meeting.   

  
 Page 102 
5. PERMIT EXTENSION FOR ADULT DAY CARE CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT – Public 

Hearing 
The Planning Commission will hold a public hearing to consider extending for two years 
a previously approved conditional use permit held by the Oak Harbor Senior Center to 
operate the Daybreak Adult Day Care out of a modular building at 917 E. Whidbey 
Avenue (Island County Parcel Number S7600-00-02604-0).  This is a final decision of 
the Planning Commission. 

  
 Page 108 
6. 2010 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AMENDMENTS – Public Hearing 

The Planning Commission will open a public hearing on the 2010 Comprehensive Plan 
Amendments that included three land use designation changes and the Capital 
Improvements Plan 2010-2015.  The hearing will be continued to the October 26th 
Planning Commission meeting.  

1



Page 2 of 2 

 Page 111 (Agenda Items 7 and 8 are presented together) 
7. CODE AMENDMENT – DEVELOPMENT APPLICATION VESTING – Public Hearing 

The Planning Commission will hold a public hearing to consider amending the Oak 
Harbor Municipal Code (Chapter 18.20) to define when a development application vests 
in the application of development regulations.  The Planning Commission will forward a 
recommendation to the City Council. 

 
8. CODE AMENDMENT – ADMINISTRATIVE APPEALS OF FINAL EIS – Public Hearing 

The Planning Commission will hold a public hearing to consider amending various 
sections of the Oak Harbor Municipal Code to clarify the procedures for administratively 
appealing a final environmental impact statement (EIS).  The Planning Commission will 
forward a recommendation to the City Council. 

 
 
 

2



MINUTES 

 

August 24, 2010 

3



 

Planning Commission  
August 24, 2010 

Page 1 of 11 

PLANNING COMMISSION       
REGULAR MEETING 
CITY HALL – COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
August 24, 2010 
 
ROLL CALL: Present:  Keith Fakkema, Kristi Jensen, Keith Fakkema, Nancy Fey and Julie 

Dale. 
  Absent:  Mark Wiggins and Greg Wasinger. 
  Staff Present:  Development Services Director, Steve Powers; Senior 

Planners, Cac Kamak and Ethan Spoo; Associate Planner, Melissa Sartorius. 
 
Vice Chairman Neil announced that the public hearing for the SE Pioneer Way shoreline 
substantial development conditional use permit was postponed until the September 28th 
Planning Commission meeting. 
 
Vice Chairman Neil called the meeting to order at 7:35 p.m.  
 
PUBLIC COMMENT  
None. 
 
MINUTES: MS. FEY MOVED, MR. FAKKEMA SECONDED, MOTION CARRIED TO 

APPROVE THE JULY 27, 2010 MINUTES AS PRESENTED WITH ONE 
CORRECTION TO THIRD PARAGRAPH OF THE LAST PAGE OF THE 
MINITUES WHERE MS. FEY IS SHOWN AS MR. FEY. 

 
ADULT ENTERTAINMENT INTERIM ORDINANCE – Public Hearing  
Mr. Kamak reported that City Council adopted three ordinances regarding adult entertainment 
facilities in March.  One of the ordinances was an interim overlay zone for where adult 
entertainment uses can be located.   
 
Mr. Kamak stated that the law only allows for interim ordinances to be effective for six months.  
If the work that is necessary cannot be completed within that six months a work plan is required 
to outline the steps that are necessary to complete the work.  Staff has prepared a work plan 
which was attached to the Planning Commission agenda.  The work plan will be presented for 
City Council’s consideration at their September 7, 2010 meeting.  If the wok plan is adopted the 
effective period of the interim zoning ordinance can be extended for an additional six months. 
 
Commission Discussion 
Ms. Jensen pointed out an error in the tentative schedule paragraph on page 11.  The sentence 
that says that the six month extension that will keep the interim overlay zone effective until 
March 2010 should be corrected to say March 2011. 
 
Public Comment 
Mel Vance (PO Box 2882) urged the City to work closely with the County since the County is 
also considering adult entertainment regulations.  He encouraged working together on the 
zoning regulations in the areas that seem most appropriate for adult entertainment facilities 
which are either adjacent to or in the Urban Growth Areas on the north side of the City. 
 
ACTION: MS. DALE MOVED, MS. JENSEN SECONDED, MOTION CARRIED TO 

CONTINUE THE PUBLIC HEARING TO SEPTEMBER 28, 2010. 
 
 

4



 

Planning Commission  
August 24, 2010 

Page 2 of 11 

URBAN GROWTH AREA (UGA) CAPACITY ANALYSIS – Public Meeting 
(NO ACTION REQUIRED) 
Mr. Powers noted that the Commission is not being asked to take any action at this evening’s 
meeting and that the meeting is the next in a continuing series of updates. 
 
Mr. Kamak reviewed data presented at previous discussions as follows: 
 

Population Data 
– Historical Population growth 

• 67% of Island County growth in unincorporated areas 
• 33% in incorporated areas (Oak Harbor – 29%) 

– Population Projections 
• Based on information provided by OFM 

 
 2010 Population 2030 Population Difference 

ISLAND COUNTY    
Low 73,036 85,164 12,128 

Medium 80,703 107,126 26,423 
High 88,370 129,088 40,718 

Medium - High 84,537 118,107 33,571 
OAK HARBOR    

Low 21,180 24,698 3,517 
Medium 23,404 31,067 7,663 

High 25,672 37,436 11,808 
Medium-High 24,516 34,251 9,735 

 
Mr. Kamak noted that the medium-high category (9,735) in the above table is the population that 
the County and City agreed that the City should be planning for. 
 

Population Densities 
 

Year Area1 Area 
annexed Population2 Population 

increase 
Population 
Density 

1970 4165 3061 9,167   2.20 
1980 4739 574 12,271 3,104 2.59 
1990 4925 186 17,176 4,905 3.49 
2000 5804 879 19,795 2,619 3.41 
2009 6082 278 23,3603 3,565 3.84 

 
 

Development Densities 
Densities for residential developments over the last 10 years were calculated to yield an 
average density of 5.20 units per acre. 

 
Building Data vs. Population Data 

• No visible trend between them 
 

Land Use inventory was conducted 
 
 
 

5



 

Planning Commission  
August 24, 2010 

Page 3 of 11 

Methodologies 
 

ILR – Improvement Value to Land Value Ratio 
 Based on assessed values 
 Uses a ratio between the land and the structure 
 Does not take into account any other feature of the property 

Improvement to Land Ratio

• Ratio between the land and the improvements
• Assessed Land value = 300,000
• Assessed Improvement Value = 100,000

ILR  = 
Improvement value

Land  value
=  33%

•Typically this method considers land with ILR <50% as redevelopable

(The structure is 33% of 
land value)

 
 
Density Ratio  
 Not based on assessed values 
 Uses a ratio between existing density and potential density 
 Requires creating a database of information not currently tracked  

Density Ratio

• Ratio of the existing density to the 
potential density

5000 Square feet 20, 000 Square feet

Existing Density Potential Density

Density Ratio =
Existing Density

Potential Density
=  0.25

Low ratios indicate higher development potentials  
 
 
LTR – Land Value to Total Value 
 Based on assessed values 
 Compares the land value against the total assessed value 
 Focuses on one aspect of the value 
 

6



 

Planning Commission  
August 24, 2010 

Page 4 of 11 

Land to Total Value Ratio

• Ratio between total assessed value and 
land value

• Total Assessed Value is $400,000
• Land Value is $300,000
• Structure and special features is $100,000

LTR = Land Value

Total Assessed Value
=  75% Land value is 

75% of the total 
value

Higher percentages indicate higher redevelopment potential  
 

Data Source Management 
Mr. Kamak explained that the data that the City uses comes from Island County 
Assessor’s data.  

 
Mr. Kamak transitioned to today’s presentation which focused on the analysis of data using the 
Improvement to Land Ratio (ILR) and the Land to Total Value Ratio (LTR).  Maps were 
displayed that indicate potentially developable properties based on a range of ILR and LTR 
ratios (maps are attached to these minutes as Attachment 1).  Mr. Powers noted that the maps 
and a spreadsheet that provides the acreage available in each land use category for the various 
percentages of ILR and LTR are posted on the City’s website.   
 
Mr. Kamak explained that LTR focuses on the land value and compares it to the total value of 
the property.  Higher LTRs indicate higher land value.  The assumption is that if the land value 
is significantly high then the owner may think about redevelopment.  The question for the 
Planning Commission is how high should the LTR be to considered the property a as a potential 
redevelopment property? 
 
Mr. Kamak explained that ILR compares the improvement value to the land value of the 
property.  Lower ILRs indicate that the value of the improvements are low when compared to 
the land value.  The assumption is that if the value of improvements on the property is 
significantly low and the land value is high then the owner may think about redevelopment.  An 
ILR of 30% indicates that the value of the structure is 30% of the land value.  The question for 
the Planning Commission is how low should the structure value be in order to be considered as 
a potential redevelopment property? 
 
Mr. Kamak presented LTR and ILR methodologies as follows: 
 
LTR vs. ILR 

• Both methods use Island County Assessor’s data 
• The assessors data has separate value for “Land”, “Structure”, “Other features” and 

“Total”  
• All properties have some value for “Land” 
• Properties can have no value for “Structure” if there are no buildings on the property 

(These properties will show up as developable properties in our analysis) 
• “Other features” may have value it if there are other improvements or value such as by 

wells, easements etc. 
• “Total” may have no value in it if the properties are filed as tax exempt (may still have 

values assigned to “Land”, “Structure” and “Other features” – religious institutions, 
common areas in condominiums)  

7



 

Planning Commission  
August 24, 2010 

Page 5 of 11 

 
Maps of ILR (50%, 60%, 70%, 80%, 90%) 

• Ratios were calculated using the “Structure” and “Land” assessed value data 
• Ratios range from 0% to 100+% 
• A value of 0% usually indicates that there are no structures on the property and 100+% 

indicates that the value of the structure exceeds the value of the land.  
• Since lower structure values are indicative of possible development/redevelopment, it is 

a general practice to look at ILR of less than 50% 
• Maps for ILR are created with a graduated scale 
• <50% map indicates all properties that have an ILR value of less than 50% 
• <40% map indicates all properties that have an ILR value of less than 40% (properties 

that have a value between 50% and 40% have been removed) 
• <50% map may include properties that may be considered undevelopable and the <10% 

map may not indicate properties that may be considered developable.  
 
Maps of LTR (10%, 20%, 30%, 40%, 50%) 

• Ratios were calculated using the “Land” and “Total” assessed value data 
• Ratios range from 0% to 100% 
• A value of 0% usually indicates that there are no land values assigned (detentions 

basins, drainage tracts etc) and 100+% indicates that the value of the land equals the 
total assessed value of the property (vacant).  

• Since higher land values are indicative of possible development/redevelopment, it is a 
general practice to look at LTR of greater than 50% 

• Maps for LTR are created with a graduated scale 
• >50% map indicates all properties that have an LTR value of greater than 50% 
• >60% map indicates all properties that have an LTR value of greater than 60% 

(properties that have a value between 50% and 60% have been removed) 
• >50% map may include properties that may be considered undevelopable and the >90% 

map may not indicate properties that may be considered developable.  
 
Mr. Kamak noted that data corrections were necessary to calculate the values for ILR and LTR.  
They are primarily due to how the county assigns values.  For example a condominium plat that 
has a common area will have a “Land” value but will not have a “Structure” value (since the 
structure value is assigned to the individual units).  Based on the calculations, this property will 
indicate high development potential.  Examples of these corrections were applied to the 
following: 

– Condominiums 
– Tracts  

• Buffers 
• Landscape or common areas 
• Detention basins 

– Schools 
– Parks 
– Religious institutions 
– Critical areas 
– Utilities (Power substations, community wells) 

• The properties designated for Low Density Residential that have an area less that 
14,000 square feet with an existing structure were also removed from the calculations 
(these properties, if redeveloped, would replace units and will not be adding units) 

 
Mr. Kamak displayed the following summary tables: 
 

8



 

Planning Commission  
August 24, 2010 

Page 6 of 11 

ILR and LTR 
Potentially developable acres*  

    50% 40% 30% 20% 10% 
City 633 612 578 544 466 ILR 
Unincorporated UGA 505 504 490 469 444 

  Total 1138 1116 1068 1013 910 

              
    50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 

City 759 652 597 493 405 LTR 
Unincorporated UGA 552 487 460 415 383 

  Total 1311 1139 1057 908 788 
* Includes all land us categories 

 
ILR and LTR 

Potentially developable low density residential acres 
    50% 40% 30% 20% 10% 

City 144 142 140 131 115 ILR 
Unincorporated UGA 128 127 114 114 114 

  Total 272 269 254 245 229 
              
    50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 

City 184 160 151 140 129 LTR 
Unincorporated UGA 148 132 130 115 110 

  Total 332 292 281 255 239 
 
 

ILR and LTR 
Potentially developable residential acres 

    50% 40% 30% 20% 10% 
City 329 324 319 299 240 ILR Unincorporated UGA 132 131 117 117 117 

  Total 461 455 436 416 358 

  Density at 5.2/acre 
(past 10 yrs) 2396 2367 2269 2166 1861 

  2000 average 
household 2.69 6445 6366 6103 5825 5007 

              
    50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 

City 385 334 313 249 187 LTR Unincorporated UGA 152 136 134 119 114 
  Total 537 470 447 368 301 

  Density at 5.2/acre 
(past 10 yrs) 2791 2442 2325 1913 1564 

  2000 average 
household 2.69 7508 6569 6253 5146 4208 

* Includes low, medium, medium-high and high residential land us categories 
 
Mr. Kamak explained the following table. The check marks indicate that the property shows up 
on the indicated ILR or LTR percentage maps and the fraction indicates what amount of the 
property drops off at the indicated percentage. 
 

9



 

Planning Commission  
August 24, 2010 

Page 7 of 11 

ILR and LTR 
Drawing the development line 

    50% 40% 30% 20% 10% 
Ford Dealership Site   1/2 1/2 1/2 

ILR SW corner of Pioneer and Midway     x 
  Mobile Home Parks      

  
Under Developed properties along the 
boardwalk (waterfront)    1/3 1/3 

  Gas Stations   x x x 
              
    50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 

Ford Dealership Site    1/2 1/2 LTR 
SW corner of Pioneer and Midway     x 

  Mobile Home Parks   1/2 1/3 1/3 

  Under Developed properties along the 
boardwalk (waterfront)    1/2 x 

  Gas Stations    x x 
 
Mr. Kamak pointed out that just because a property is marked on the map as redevelopable 
doesn’t mean that it will redevelop because this is not an exact science and there are 
assumptions that have to be made when doing the calculations. 
 
Mr. Kamak summarized the preliminary findings as follows: 

• Development potential properties identified by ILR < 30% and LTR > 70% 
• Average residential acres for ILR 30 (436) and LTR 70 (447) = 441.5 
• Average density based on 10 yr development = 5.2 units per acre 
• Average # of unit based on acreage = 2,295.8 
• Average household size (2000 Census) = 2.69 
• Average capacity for population in City and UGA = 6,176 
• Targeted (med-high) population based on projections =  9,735 

 
Committee Discussion 
Ms. Jensen asked if the numbers used in the table on page 49 of the agenda packet were 
acres.  Mr. Kamak indicated the numbers represent acres. 
 
Ms. Jensen asked how the 2000 Census data and the number of acres from the table could be 
used to calculate the number of lots we have.  Mr. Powers said that taking the acres and the 
number of units per acre will yield an estimated number of units. Once you have the total 
number of units you can use the persons per household figure 2.69, that comes from the 2000 
Census to tell you what the expected population is that would be served by those units.  Mr. 
Powers added that staff has to use the 2000 Census data because it will be at least 18 to 24 
months before the 2010 Census data will be available.  By the time that the City has to have the 
State mandated GMA update done we will have 2010 Census data. 
 
Public Comment 
GayLynn Beighton (2507 West Beach Road) commented that it is financially irresponsible to 
not try to plan and grow efficiently and sustainably within the City boundaries. Ms. Beighton said 
that her understanding of the purpose of the GMA was to keep the cities the cities and keep the 
rural areas rural and growth was to be inward to the cities that were going to become vibrant 
and healthy bustling pedestrian friendly places to live.   
 

10



 

Planning Commission  
August 24, 2010 

Page 8 of 11 

Ms. Beighton asked how much it costs to calculate the Oak Harbor land capacity based on 
density and how much will it cost to bring water, sewer and road to this rural land?  Ms. 
Beighton said she thought it was important to know what it costs to calculate the Oak Harbor 
land capacity based on density and what it costs to bring water, sewer and road to rural land so 
we can compare.  “If we can’t afford to do it right what is it going to cost us down the road?” 
 
Ms. Beighton said she didn’t think either of the recommended methodologies were accurate. 
 
Ms. Beighton also referred to two properties (756 SE Barrington Drive and 778 SE Barrington 
Drive) that had been slated for development and permitted by the City of Oak Harbor in 2006 
and is now not considered redevelopable land for 20 years.   
 
Ms. Beighton provided a copy of her comments (attached to these minutes as Attachment 2).   
 
Steve Erickson (Whidbey Environmental Action Network, PO Box 53, Langley, WA 98260) 
asked when the City and County agreed to use the medium-high forecast.  Mr. Erickson 
commented that critical areas are not considered developable and his understanding of the Oak 
Harbor Critical Areas Ordinance is that critical areas, while they are not developable, the density 
for that land area simply gets transferred elsewhere on the property.  This is also partially true 
with governmental organizations, non-profits but depends on the non-profit so you actually have 
to get specific and look at the particular use. 
 
Mr. Erickson asked what the etceteras were at the end of the list on page 21.  He also asked if 
any testing had been done to determine how predictive these methods are.  Mr. Erickson also 
commented that the assumption that low density residential should be eliminated as being 
potentially redevelopable implicitly eliminates the possibility of up-zoning those properties for 
increase in density in the City and avoiding expanding the UGA.  Increasing density is less 
expensive in terms of infrastructure and generally in terms of environmental impacts overall and 
generally good planning. 
 
Mel Vance (PO Box 2882) commented that there are some flaws in the methods being used.  
Mr. Vance referred to the Ford Dealership site listed on the ILR vs LTR table on page 37 of the 
agenda packet and commented that if you apply the same standard to grocery stores, any 
active dealerships, under these formulas, all of them should be marked as developable because 
large amounts of the property take up the parking lots which do not show up as improvements. 
The only improvements are the building itself so very little of the property has improvements the 
rest of it technically is vacant.  Also, by arbitrarily removing single-family residential he believed 
there are large parts of the City that are being removed from the equation.  Mr. Vance noted that 
there are a number of areas of the City where there are no views that could easily 
accommodate five-story buildings.  He didn’t think that apartments and condominiums were 
being reflected in the way the analysis is being done.  Mr. Vance stated that we also need to 
take into account the value of a property to the community which is not reflected in the actual 
monetary value of the land.  Some examples that were brought up are the SW corner of Pioneer 
and Midway. He believed the property has some historic significance to the community and it 
should be removed as redevelopable.  Mr. Vance commented on the underdeveloped properties 
along the waterfront, he believed the waterfront is the worst place for multiple story buildings.  
Those properties should go to a parks status or open it up for views of the bay.  At worst case 
scenario they should be single story buildings.  Mr. Vance pointed out another property that is 
shown as redevelopable located northwest of the Catholic Church; it is a very long and narrow 
strip of densely wooded vacant land.  He would like to see that property preserved as open 
space.  He stated that it absorbs a lot of runoff from housing developments and those adjacent 
to it.  The environmental benefits it provides and wildlife corridor it provides are immensely 
valuable to the area.   

11



 

Planning Commission  
August 24, 2010 

Page 9 of 11 

 
Mr. Powers responded to some of the questions and comments as follows: 
 
Costs in Terms of Resources 
The cost to take a parcel-by-parcel density analysis is a staff resource issue.  The cost while not 
being quantified in terms of dollars and cents is one of the costs of having to spread our staff 
resources over not only this project but others as well.  What we are attempting to do is to 
identify a methodology, one which has been utilized hopefully by other communities to arrive at 
a way to provide information to the community, to the Commission and to the Council so that 
ultimately the Planning Commission can make a recommendation to the Council and the 
Council can decide what is the appropriate course of action.  I am not able to compare the labor 
cost of tackling that method nor have we tried to develop a consultant contract to do that 
because frankly I know that we are not able to fund such an effort.  I agree whole-heartedly with 
the comment about the ability to look the cost of various development patterns and obviously 
the Growth Management Act is predicated on the idea that we will concentrate growth within the 
Urban Growth Areas that we will look to make the most efficient use of our utilities and our 
infrastructure as possible and I think we will look at it in its entirety the City’s comprehensive 
planning both from a land use and form a utilities planning perspective try to support that 
Growth Management goal and that efficient use of our utilities.  So the cost issue is difficult for 
me to give a direct answer to but when we talk about cost at the staff level what we are talking 
about is the resource cost, the ability to staff that sort of effort. 
 
Staff is not aware that either of the two methods are any less accurate than the density method 
that is supported by at least one member of our audience this evening.  So we are interested in 
those comments but to the best of our knowledge neither of those other methods are 
significantly flawed to say that the Commission should not be considering. 
 
The City and County agreed to use the medium-high forecast when we started this effort in 
2004 for the 2005 update process.  That decision was supported by our City Council.  It is my 
understanding that the County Commissioners never took formal action on that projection but it 
was agreed upon between the two jurisdictional staffs. 
 
Critical Areas Density 
We do density transfers out of those critical areas when we have parcels which also have 
developable land in them.  Mr. Kamak’s reference to critical areas were for those parcels which 
were primarily critical areas or for those areas in which any development potential just wasn’t 
possible other than perhaps one or two units under some sort of reasonable use provision.  We 
do transfer density out of the critical area so that it is utilized elsewhere within that developable 
area of the parcel.  It is something that we should take a look at that when we talk about 
excepting out those lands that we aren’t accepting out more than what we have intended to do. 
 
Non-Profits 
One of the challenges from the staff perspective is trying to predict what property owners are 
going to do with their property.  It is very difficult for us to determine whether or not non-profit “A” 
is going to make some of their land available because they feel like they need to raise funds to 
support whatever their non-profit organization is or whether they decide to hold on to their 
property for the foreseeable future so they can use it for their own purposes.  We have no way 
of predicting whether a church will sell off some of their holdings to support a mission effort 
somewhere or whether they’ll continue to hold that land for future expansion for their church 
campus.  So, what we have chosen to do this time as we did in 2005.  We hope this consistency 
builds good information and data is to say those lands will not be available on the market for 
sale for development of residential units or commercial if they are commercially zoned.  That’s 
an assumption though.  Part of what we intend to do for the Planning Commission and Council 

12



 

Planning Commission  
August 24, 2010 

Page 10 of 11 

is make it clear what all our assumptions are.  If you believe those assumptions should be 
changed that is exactly what we need you to do is give us that feedback.  Then we will rerun the 
work changing those assumptions. 
 
Single-family Parcels 
The goal for single-family parcels was to say that in certain circumstances it’s not realistic to 
expect that a parcel which, while it’s larger than the minimum lot size for that particular zoning 
district, is likely to redevelop and provide an additional unit.  All single family properties in Oak 
Harbor generally can qualify to have an accessory dwelling unit, what is typically referred to as a 
mother-in-law unit, our assumption that we are putting forth in this analysis is that we are not 
going to count those mother-in-law units as part of our capacity because our permit history to-
date is showing us that that’s not a type of housing which is being utilized in our community.  
Not to say that it’s not going to happen in the future, but we don’t expect that it is going to 
happen on a significant enough scale that it makes a difference in terms of where we might 
house that 20 year population.  One of the reasons that we do this analysis on an occasional 
basis is because we need to check those assumptions as we go along.  The point about 
excluding out single family properties below 14,000 square feet or below is not to exclude whole 
neighborhoods, its to say that the likelihood of that redeveloping and producing an extra unit, 
increasing the density, helping us meet that capacity for the 20-yeay future is pretty unlikely.  
Again, an assumption, that we are seeking feedback on from both the community as well as the 
Planning Commission. 
 
Mr. Ericson had an excellent point that we need to be careful not to eliminate something 
happening in the future.  That is where our comprehensive planning is intended to do for us.  
That is what our zoning categories are intended to do for us.  Part of what we’re trying to do is to 
figure out how much land do we think that we have available to develop under the rules as we 
know them today.  Part of the Council decision making process is given that information, should 
we change the rules as we know them, which would fall in line with some of what the Planning 
Commission has heard this evening, to encourage certain things to happen.  Or are the rules 
fine but what we need is additional capacity to support the rules that we have.  The point is an 
excellent one, which is, we need to keep our eye on the fact that our analysis can change if the 
rules change, but at our point in time analysis, we can’t predict or determine when those rules 
might change and if so what that change might look like.  To a very large degree, while we are 
trying to look forward we have to do our analysis with what we know today.   
 
Community Value of Property 
Some of Mr. Vance’s comments about community value of property, sentimental value, historic 
value, some sort of intrinsic value.  Those are all excellent comments.  That is different than 
capacity analysis.  That is a comprehensive planning decision that the community can support 
and make as a zoning decision.  Ultimately, it’s a property owner’s decision.  What we are trying 
to do is boil this down to a numbers analysis that can yield you some objective data in which 
you can help make a recommendation to the Council.  Again, if we start saying that property has 
value in a special way, we shouldn’t think about that being developed or we should take this 
property out of the market place because it has open space value.  Those are all community 
decisions that will start to affect the available amount of land.  Currently we are at the stage of 
determining what the land numbers tell us today. 
 
Mr. Powers concluded his comments by explaining what is this process about.  Mr. Powers 
explained that the process is about sharing where the staff is right now and what we think we 
see and listening to the public comment.  Ultimately the Commission is going to determine 
whether the right methodology is being used and are the right assumption being used and at 
what point the Planning Commission is comfortable in making a recommendation to the Council.  
So, this is sort of a stay tuned.  We have a couple more briefings before we get to the end of 

13



 

Planning Commission  
August 24, 2010 

Page 11 of 11 

what we envision for this year.  Mr. Powers also noted that we aren’t in a process by which we 
are contemplating expansion of the Urban Growth Area this year.  This year’s work is only about 
trying to get a handle on what is our available land for development today.  If and when the 
conversation is about expanding the Urban Growth Area that is a separate work effort, one that 
won’t happen this calendar year.  At the earliest it would start next year and could be even later 
than that. 
 
Commission Discussion 
Ms. Jensen asked about the subdivision code revision and how may buildable units we would 
get from that.  Mr. Spoo stated that we changed some access provisions in the subdivision code 
to allow lots to front on private roads or shared driveways thereby encouraging infill where you 
would otherwise have to have a public street and take up more room.  A city-wide analysis was 
not done to see how many extra lots we would get.  Mr. Powers added that because of the 
subdivision code changes that allow those short plats to have less than a full public street 
access you are more likely to get closer to that average density than we were under the old 
rules. The old regulations required the 50 foot of right-of-way and the full public street 
improvements and we were using a disproportionate amount of the total land area for the public 
street as opposed to the number of units which could be served.  Now we can allow those lots 
to be served on something less than a full public street on a shared driveway or private access. 
You will have to use less of that total acreage for the street which will make the difference 
between 3 lots and 4 lots or the difference between 4 lots and 5 lots but that is a big difference 
in the ability of the project to actually be realized.  We didn’t determine how many extra lots we 
might get but we are very confident that it will make better use of the parcels which are being 
identified through this capacity analysis. 
 
Mr. Kamak distributed to the Commission a public comment letter that he had received.  The 
comment letter is attached to these minutes as Attachment 3. 
 
Mr. Fakkema asked if the number is a static number.  Mr. Powers stated that it is a snapshot at 
a particular point in time but since our Comprehensive Plan has the policy statement that says 
we should look at our capacity at least once every five years. So when you think about a 20 
year population projection that we are required to plan for and we retake that snapshot once 
every 5 years we have a really good way to check our work and assumptions to see whether the 
methodology that the community ultimately chose is holding true or not. 
 
Vice Chairman Neil thanked the audience for commenting and attending the meetings.  He 
thanked staff for their continued work. 
 
BEING NO FURTHER BUSINESS BEFORE THE PLANNING COMMISSION, THE MEETING 
WAS ADJOURNED AT 8:55 P.M. 
 

14



Ü
D

is
cl

ai
m

er
:

Th
is

 m
ap

 is
 c

re
at

ed
 u

si
ng

 a
ss

es
se

d 
va

lu
e 

da
ta

 s
up

pl
ie

d 
by

 th
e 

Is
la

nd
 C

ou
nt

y
As

se
ss

or
's

 
O

ffi
ce

 
in

 
N

ov
em

be
r, 

20
09

. 
 

Th
e 

m
ap

 
in

di
ca

te
s 

pr
el

im
in

ar
y

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

ba
se

d 
on

 t
he

 d
at

a 
an

d 
is

 s
ub

je
ct

 t
o 

ch
an

ge
 b

as
ed

 o
n 

fu
rth

er
re

se
ar

ch
 a

nd
 o

th
er

 fi
nd

in
gs

 a
s 

th
e 

U
G

A 
ca

pa
ci

ty
 a

na
ly

si
s 

pr
og

re
ss

es
.

N
ei

th
er

 th
e 

C
ity

 o
f O

ak
 H

ar
bo

r n
or

 a
ny

 a
ge

nc
y,

 o
ffi

ce
r, 

or
 e

m
pl

oy
ee

 o
f t

he
 C

ity
of

 O
ak

 H
ar

bo
r w

ar
ra

nt
s 

th
e 

ac
cu

ra
cy

, r
el

ia
bi

lit
y 

or
 ti

m
el

in
es

s 
of

 a
ny

 in
fo

rm
at

io
n

co
nt

ai
ne

d 
on

 m
ap

pi
ng

 p
ro

du
ct

s 
or

ig
in

at
in

g 
fio

m
 t

he
 C

ity
 o

f 
O

ak
 H

ar
bo

r 
an

d
sh

al
l n

ot
 b

e 
he

ld
 li

ab
le

 fo
r a

ny
 lo

ss
es

 c
au

se
d 

by
 s

uc
h 

re
lia

nc
e 

on
 th

e 
ac

cu
ra

cy
,

re
lia

bi
lit

y 
or

 ti
m

el
in

es
s 

of
 s

uc
h 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n.

 A
ny

 p
er

so
n 

or
 e

nt
ity

 w
ho

 r
el

ie
s 

on
an

y 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
ob

ta
in

ed
 fi

om
 th

e 
sy

st
em

s,
 d

oe
s 

so
 a

t h
is

 o
r h

er
 o

w
n 

ris
k.

AL
L P

RO
PE

RT
IES

 >5
0%

 LT
R 

RA
TIO

De
ve

lop
ab

ilit
y

U
nd

ev
el

op
ab

le

D
ev

el
op

ab
le

Le
ge

nd C
ity

Li
m

its

U
G

A 
- C

ity
 A

do
pt

ed
(N

ot
 in

cl
ud

ed
 in

 s
tu

dy
 a

re
a)

U
G

A 
- C

ou
nt

y 
A

do
pt

ed

15



Ü
D

is
cl

ai
m

er
:

Th
is

 m
ap

 is
 c

re
at

ed
 u

si
ng

 a
ss

es
se

d 
va

lu
e 

da
ta

 s
up

pl
ie

d 
by

 th
e 

Is
la

nd
 C

ou
nt

y
As

se
ss

or
's

 
O

ffi
ce

 
in

 
N

ov
em

be
r, 

20
09

. 
 

Th
e 

m
ap

 
in

di
ca

te
s 

pr
el

im
in

ar
y

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

ba
se

d 
on

 t
he

 d
at

a 
an

d 
is

 s
ub

je
ct

 t
o 

ch
an

ge
 b

as
ed

 o
n 

fu
rth

er
re

se
ar

ch
 a

nd
 o

th
er

 fi
nd

in
gs

 a
s 

th
e 

U
G

A 
ca

pa
ci

ty
 a

na
ly

si
s 

pr
og

re
ss

es
.

N
ei

th
er

 th
e 

C
ity

 o
f O

ak
 H

ar
bo

r n
or

 a
ny

 a
ge

nc
y,

 o
ffi

ce
r, 

or
 e

m
pl

oy
ee

 o
f t

he
 C

ity
of

 O
ak

 H
ar

bo
r w

ar
ra

nt
s 

th
e 

ac
cu

ra
cy

, r
el

ia
bi

lit
y 

or
 ti

m
el

in
es

s 
of

 a
ny

 in
fo

rm
at

io
n

co
nt

ai
ne

d 
on

 m
ap

pi
ng

 p
ro

du
ct

s 
or

ig
in

at
in

g 
fio

m
 t

he
 C

ity
 o

f 
O

ak
 H

ar
bo

r 
an

d
sh

al
l n

ot
 b

e 
he

ld
 li

ab
le

 fo
r a

ny
 lo

ss
es

 c
au

se
d 

by
 s

uc
h 

re
lia

nc
e 

on
 th

e 
ac

cu
ra

cy
,

re
lia

bi
lit

y 
or

 ti
m

el
in

es
s 

of
 s

uc
h 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n.

 A
ny

 p
er

so
n 

or
 e

nt
ity

 w
ho

 r
el

ie
s 

on
an

y 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
ob

ta
in

ed
 fi

om
 th

e 
sy

st
em

s,
 d

oe
s 

so
 a

t h
is

 o
r h

er
 o

w
n 

ris
k.

AL
L P

RO
PE

RT
IES

 >6
0%

 LT
R 

RA
TIO

De
ve

lop
ab

ilit
y

U
nd

ev
el

op
ab

le

D
ev

el
op

ab
le

Le
ge

nd C
ity

Li
m

its

U
G

A 
- C

ity
 A

do
pt

ed
(N

ot
 in

cl
ud

ed
 in

 s
tu

dy
 a

re
a)

U
G

A 
- C

ou
nt

y 
A

do
pt

ed

16



Ü
D

is
cl

ai
m

er
:

Th
is

 m
ap

 is
 c

re
at

ed
 u

si
ng

 a
ss

es
se

d 
va

lu
e 

da
ta

 s
up

pl
ie

d 
by

 th
e 

Is
la

nd
 C

ou
nt

y
As

se
ss

or
's

 
O

ffi
ce

 
in

 
N

ov
em

be
r, 

20
09

. 
 

Th
e 

m
ap

 
in

di
ca

te
s 

pr
el

im
in

ar
y

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

ba
se

d 
on

 t
he

 d
at

a 
an

d 
is

 s
ub

je
ct

 t
o 

ch
an

ge
 b

as
ed

 o
n 

fu
rth

er
re

se
ar

ch
 a

nd
 o

th
er

 fi
nd

in
gs

 a
s 

th
e 

U
G

A 
ca

pa
ci

ty
 a

na
ly

si
s 

pr
og

re
ss

es
.

N
ei

th
er

 th
e 

C
ity

 o
f O

ak
 H

ar
bo

r n
or

 a
ny

 a
ge

nc
y,

 o
ffi

ce
r, 

or
 e

m
pl

oy
ee

 o
f t

he
 C

ity
of

 O
ak

 H
ar

bo
r w

ar
ra

nt
s 

th
e 

ac
cu

ra
cy

, r
el

ia
bi

lit
y 

or
 ti

m
el

in
es

s 
of

 a
ny

 in
fo

rm
at

io
n

co
nt

ai
ne

d 
on

 m
ap

pi
ng

 p
ro

du
ct

s 
or

ig
in

at
in

g 
fio

m
 t

he
 C

ity
 o

f 
O

ak
 H

ar
bo

r 
an

d
sh

al
l n

ot
 b

e 
he

ld
 li

ab
le

 fo
r a

ny
 lo

ss
es

 c
au

se
d 

by
 s

uc
h 

re
lia

nc
e 

on
 th

e 
ac

cu
ra

cy
,

re
lia

bi
lit

y 
or

 ti
m

el
in

es
s 

of
 s

uc
h 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n.

 A
ny

 p
er

so
n 

or
 e

nt
ity

 w
ho

 r
el

ie
s 

on
an

y 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
ob

ta
in

ed
 fi

om
 th

e 
sy

st
em

s,
 d

oe
s 

so
 a

t h
is

 o
r h

er
 o

w
n 

ris
k.

AL
L P

RO
PE

RT
IES

 >7
0%

 LT
R 

RA
TIO

De
ve

lop
ab

ilit
y

U
nd

ev
el

op
ab

le

D
ev

el
op

ab
le

Le
ge

nd C
ity

Li
m

its

U
G

A 
- C

ity
 A

do
pt

ed
(N

ot
 in

cl
ud

ed
 in

 s
tu

dy
 a

re
a)

U
G

A 
- C

ou
nt

y 
A

do
pt

ed

17



Ü
D

is
cl

ai
m

er
:

Th
is

 m
ap

 is
 c

re
at

ed
 u

si
ng

 a
ss

es
se

d 
va

lu
e 

da
ta

 s
up

pl
ie

d 
by

 th
e 

Is
la

nd
 C

ou
nt

y
As

se
ss

or
's

 
O

ffi
ce

 
in

 
N

ov
em

be
r, 

20
09

. 
 

Th
e 

m
ap

 
in

di
ca

te
s 

pr
el

im
in

ar
y

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

ba
se

d 
on

 t
he

 d
at

a 
an

d 
is

 s
ub

je
ct

 t
o 

ch
an

ge
 b

as
ed

 o
n 

fu
rth

er
re

se
ar

ch
 a

nd
 o

th
er

 fi
nd

in
gs

 a
s 

th
e 

U
G

A 
ca

pa
ci

ty
 a

na
ly

si
s 

pr
og

re
ss

es
.

N
ei

th
er

 th
e 

C
ity

 o
f O

ak
 H

ar
bo

r n
or

 a
ny

 a
ge

nc
y,

 o
ffi

ce
r, 

or
 e

m
pl

oy
ee

 o
f t

he
 C

ity
of

 O
ak

 H
ar

bo
r w

ar
ra

nt
s 

th
e 

ac
cu

ra
cy

, r
el

ia
bi

lit
y 

or
 ti

m
el

in
es

s 
of

 a
ny

 in
fo

rm
at

io
n

co
nt

ai
ne

d 
on

 m
ap

pi
ng

 p
ro

du
ct

s 
or

ig
in

at
in

g 
fio

m
 t

he
 C

ity
 o

f 
O

ak
 H

ar
bo

r 
an

d
sh

al
l n

ot
 b

e 
he

ld
 li

ab
le

 fo
r a

ny
 lo

ss
es

 c
au

se
d 

by
 s

uc
h 

re
lia

nc
e 

on
 th

e 
ac

cu
ra

cy
,

re
lia

bi
lit

y 
or

 ti
m

el
in

es
s 

of
 s

uc
h 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n.

 A
ny

 p
er

so
n 

or
 e

nt
ity

 w
ho

 r
el

ie
s 

on
an

y 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
ob

ta
in

ed
 fi

om
 th

e 
sy

st
em

s,
 d

oe
s 

so
 a

t h
is

 o
r h

er
 o

w
n 

ris
k.

AL
L P

RO
PE

RT
IES

 >8
0%

 LT
R 

RA
TIO

De
ve

lop
ab

ilit
y

U
nd

ev
el

op
ab

le

D
ev

el
op

ab
le

Le
ge

nd C
ity

Li
m

its

U
G

A 
- C

ity
 A

do
pt

ed
(N

ot
 in

cl
ud

ed
 in

 s
tu

dy
 a

re
a)

U
G

A 
- C

ou
nt

y 
A

do
pt

ed

18



Ü
D

is
cl

ai
m

er
:

Th
is

 m
ap

 is
 c

re
at

ed
 u

si
ng

 a
ss

es
se

d 
va

lu
e 

da
ta

 s
up

pl
ie

d 
by

 th
e 

Is
la

nd
 C

ou
nt

y
As

se
ss

or
's

 
O

ffi
ce

 
in

 
N

ov
em

be
r, 

20
09

. 
 

Th
e 

m
ap

 
in

di
ca

te
s 

pr
el

im
in

ar
y

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

ba
se

d 
on

 t
he

 d
at

a 
an

d 
is

 s
ub

je
ct

 t
o 

ch
an

ge
 b

as
ed

 o
n 

fu
rth

er
re

se
ar

ch
 a

nd
 o

th
er

 fi
nd

in
gs

 a
s 

th
e 

U
G

A 
ca

pa
ci

ty
 a

na
ly

si
s 

pr
og

re
ss

es
.

N
ei

th
er

 th
e 

C
ity

 o
f O

ak
 H

ar
bo

r n
or

 a
ny

 a
ge

nc
y,

 o
ffi

ce
r, 

or
 e

m
pl

oy
ee

 o
f t

he
 C

ity
of

 O
ak

 H
ar

bo
r w

ar
ra

nt
s 

th
e 

ac
cu

ra
cy

, r
el

ia
bi

lit
y 

or
 ti

m
el

in
es

s 
of

 a
ny

 in
fo

rm
at

io
n

co
nt

ai
ne

d 
on

 m
ap

pi
ng

 p
ro

du
ct

s 
or

ig
in

at
in

g 
fio

m
 t

he
 C

ity
 o

f 
O

ak
 H

ar
bo

r 
an

d
sh

al
l n

ot
 b

e 
he

ld
 li

ab
le

 fo
r a

ny
 lo

ss
es

 c
au

se
d 

by
 s

uc
h 

re
lia

nc
e 

on
 th

e 
ac

cu
ra

cy
,

re
lia

bi
lit

y 
or

 ti
m

el
in

es
s 

of
 s

uc
h 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n.

 A
ny

 p
er

so
n 

or
 e

nt
ity

 w
ho

 r
el

ie
s 

on
an

y 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
ob

ta
in

ed
 fi

om
 th

e 
sy

st
em

s,
 d

oe
s 

so
 a

t h
is

 o
r h

er
 o

w
n 

ris
k.

AL
L P

RO
PE

RT
IES

 >9
0%

 LT
R 

RA
TIO

De
ve

lop
ab

ilit
y

U
nd

ev
el

op
ab

le

D
ev

el
op

ab
le

Le
ge

nd C
ity

Li
m

its

U
G

A 
- C

ity
 A

do
pt

ed
(N

ot
 in

cl
ud

ed
 in

 s
tu

dy
 a

re
a)

U
G

A 
- C

ou
nt

y 
A

do
pt

ed

19



Ü
D

is
cl

ai
m

er
:

Th
is

 m
ap

 is
 c

re
at

ed
 u

si
ng

 a
ss

es
se

d 
va

lu
e 

da
ta

 s
up

pl
ie

d 
by

 th
e 

Is
la

nd
 C

ou
nt

y
As

se
ss

or
's

 
O

ffi
ce

 
in

 
N

ov
em

be
r, 

20
09

. 
 

Th
e 

m
ap

 
in

di
ca

te
s 

pr
el

im
in

ar
y

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

ba
se

d 
on

 t
he

 d
at

a 
an

d 
is

 s
ub

je
ct

 t
o 

ch
an

ge
 b

as
ed

 o
n 

fu
rth

er
re

se
ar

ch
 a

nd
 o

th
er

 fi
nd

in
gs

 a
s 

th
e 

U
G

A 
ca

pa
ci

ty
 a

na
ly

si
s 

pr
og

re
ss

es
.

N
ei

th
er

 th
e 

C
ity

 o
f O

ak
 H

ar
bo

r n
or

 a
ny

 a
ge

nc
y,

 o
ffi

ce
r, 

or
 e

m
pl

oy
ee

 o
f t

he
 C

ity
of

 O
ak

 H
ar

bo
r w

ar
ra

nt
s 

th
e 

ac
cu

ra
cy

, r
el

ia
bi

lit
y 

or
 ti

m
el

in
es

s 
of

 a
ny

 in
fo

rm
at

io
n

co
nt

ai
ne

d 
on

 m
ap

pi
ng

 p
ro

du
ct

s 
or

ig
in

at
in

g 
fio

m
 t

he
 C

ity
 o

f 
O

ak
 H

ar
bo

r 
an

d
sh

al
l n

ot
 b

e 
he

ld
 li

ab
le

 fo
r a

ny
 lo

ss
es

 c
au

se
d 

by
 s

uc
h 

re
lia

nc
e 

on
 th

e 
ac

cu
ra

cy
,

re
lia

bi
lit

y 
or

 ti
m

el
in

es
s 

of
 s

uc
h 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n.

 A
ny

 p
er

so
n 

or
 e

nt
ity

 w
ho

 r
el

ie
s 

on
an

y 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
ob

ta
in

ed
 fi

om
 th

e 
sy

st
em

s,
 d

oe
s 

so
 a

t h
is

 o
r h

er
 o

w
n 

ris
k.

AL
L P

RO
PE

RT
IES

 <1
0%

 IL
R 

RA
TIO

De
ve

lop
ab

ilit
y

U
nd

ev
el

op
ab

le

D
ev

el
op

ab
le

Le
ge

nd C
ity

Li
m

its

U
G

A 
- C

ity
 A

do
pt

ed
(N

ot
 in

cl
ud

ed
 in

 s
tu

dy
 a

re
a)

U
G

A 
- C

ou
nt

y 
A

do
pt

ed

20



Ü
D

is
cl

ai
m

er
:

Th
is

 m
ap

 is
 c

re
at

ed
 u

si
ng

 a
ss

es
se

d 
va

lu
e 

da
ta

 s
up

pl
ie

d 
by

 th
e 

Is
la

nd
 C

ou
nt

y
As

se
ss

or
's

 
O

ffi
ce

 
in

 
N

ov
em

be
r, 

20
09

. 
 

Th
e 

m
ap

 
in

di
ca

te
s 

pr
el

im
in

ar
y

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

ba
se

d 
on

 t
he

 d
at

a 
an

d 
is

 s
ub

je
ct

 t
o 

ch
an

ge
 b

as
ed

 o
n 

fu
rth

er
re

se
ar

ch
 a

nd
 o

th
er

 fi
nd

in
gs

 a
s 

th
e 

U
G

A 
ca

pa
ci

ty
 a

na
ly

si
s 

pr
og

re
ss

es
.

N
ei

th
er

 th
e 

C
ity

 o
f O

ak
 H

ar
bo

r n
or

 a
ny

 a
ge

nc
y,

 o
ffi

ce
r, 

or
 e

m
pl

oy
ee

 o
f t

he
 C

ity
of

 O
ak

 H
ar

bo
r w

ar
ra

nt
s 

th
e 

ac
cu

ra
cy

, r
el

ia
bi

lit
y 

or
 ti

m
el

in
es

s 
of

 a
ny

 in
fo

rm
at

io
n

co
nt

ai
ne

d 
on

 m
ap

pi
ng

 p
ro

du
ct

s 
or

ig
in

at
in

g 
fio

m
 t

he
 C

ity
 o

f 
O

ak
 H

ar
bo

r 
an

d
sh

al
l n

ot
 b

e 
he

ld
 li

ab
le

 fo
r a

ny
 lo

ss
es

 c
au

se
d 

by
 s

uc
h 

re
lia

nc
e 

on
 th

e 
ac

cu
ra

cy
,

re
lia

bi
lit

y 
or

 ti
m

el
in

es
s 

of
 s

uc
h 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n.

 A
ny

 p
er

so
n 

or
 e

nt
ity

 w
ho

 r
el

ie
s 

on
an

y 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
ob

ta
in

ed
 fi

om
 th

e 
sy

st
em

s,
 d

oe
s 

so
 a

t h
is

 o
r h

er
 o

w
n 

ris
k.

AL
L P

RO
PE

RT
IES

 <2
0%

 IL
R 

RA
TIO

De
ve

lop
ab

ilit
y

U
nd

ev
el

op
ab

le

D
ev

el
op

ab
le

Le
ge

nd C
ity

Li
m

its

U
G

A 
- C

ity
 A

do
pt

ed
(N

ot
 in

cl
ud

ed
 in

 s
tu

dy
 a

re
a)

U
G

A 
- C

ou
nt

y 
A

do
pt

ed

21



Ü
D

is
cl

ai
m

er
:

Th
is

 m
ap

 is
 c

re
at

ed
 u

si
ng

 a
ss

es
se

d 
va

lu
e 

da
ta

 s
up

pl
ie

d 
by

 th
e 

Is
la

nd
 C

ou
nt

y
As

se
ss

or
's

 
O

ffi
ce

 
in

 
N

ov
em

be
r, 

20
09

. 
 

Th
e 

m
ap

 
in

di
ca

te
s 

pr
el

im
in

ar
y

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

ba
se

d 
on

 t
he

 d
at

a 
an

d 
is

 s
ub

je
ct

 t
o 

ch
an

ge
 b

as
ed

 o
n 

fu
rth

er
re

se
ar

ch
 a

nd
 o

th
er

 fi
nd

in
gs

 a
s 

th
e 

U
G

A 
ca

pa
ci

ty
 a

na
ly

si
s 

pr
og

re
ss

es
.

N
ei

th
er

 th
e 

C
ity

 o
f O

ak
 H

ar
bo

r n
or

 a
ny

 a
ge

nc
y,

 o
ffi

ce
r, 

or
 e

m
pl

oy
ee

 o
f t

he
 C

ity
of

 O
ak

 H
ar

bo
r w

ar
ra

nt
s 

th
e 

ac
cu

ra
cy

, r
el

ia
bi

lit
y 

or
 ti

m
el

in
es

s 
of

 a
ny

 in
fo

rm
at

io
n

co
nt

ai
ne

d 
on

 m
ap

pi
ng

 p
ro

du
ct

s 
or

ig
in

at
in

g 
fio

m
 t

he
 C

ity
 o

f 
O

ak
 H

ar
bo

r 
an

d
sh

al
l n

ot
 b

e 
he

ld
 li

ab
le

 fo
r a

ny
 lo

ss
es

 c
au

se
d 

by
 s

uc
h 

re
lia

nc
e 

on
 th

e 
ac

cu
ra

cy
,

re
lia

bi
lit

y 
or

 ti
m

el
in

es
s 

of
 s

uc
h 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n.

 A
ny

 p
er

so
n 

or
 e

nt
ity

 w
ho

 r
el

ie
s 

on
an

y 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
ob

ta
in

ed
 fi

om
 th

e 
sy

st
em

s,
 d

oe
s 

so
 a

t h
is

 o
r h

er
 o

w
n 

ris
k.

AL
L P

RO
PE

RT
IES

 <3
0%

 IL
R 

RA
TIO

De
ve

lop
ab

ilit
y

U
nd

ev
el

op
ab

le

D
ev

el
op

ab
le

Le
ge

nd C
ity

Li
m

its

U
G

A 
- C

ity
 A

do
pt

ed
(N

ot
 in

cl
ud

ed
 in

 s
tu

dy
 a

re
a)

U
G

A 
- C

ou
nt

y 
A

do
pt

ed

22



Ü
D

is
cl

ai
m

er
:

Th
is

 m
ap

 is
 c

re
at

ed
 u

si
ng

 a
ss

es
se

d 
va

lu
e 

da
ta

 s
up

pl
ie

d 
by

 th
e 

Is
la

nd
 C

ou
nt

y
As

se
ss

or
's

 
O

ffi
ce

 
in

 
N

ov
em

be
r, 

20
09

. 
 

Th
e 

m
ap

 
in

di
ca

te
s 

pr
el

im
in

ar
y

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

ba
se

d 
on

 t
he

 d
at

a 
an

d 
is

 s
ub

je
ct

 t
o 

ch
an

ge
 b

as
ed

 o
n 

fu
rth

er
re

se
ar

ch
 a

nd
 o

th
er

 fi
nd

in
gs

 a
s 

th
e 

U
G

A 
ca

pa
ci

ty
 a

na
ly

si
s 

pr
og

re
ss

es
.

N
ei

th
er

 th
e 

C
ity

 o
f O

ak
 H

ar
bo

r n
or

 a
ny

 a
ge

nc
y,

 o
ffi

ce
r, 

or
 e

m
pl

oy
ee

 o
f t

he
 C

ity
of

 O
ak

 H
ar

bo
r w

ar
ra

nt
s 

th
e 

ac
cu

ra
cy

, r
el

ia
bi

lit
y 

or
 ti

m
el

in
es

s 
of

 a
ny

 in
fo

rm
at

io
n

co
nt

ai
ne

d 
on

 m
ap

pi
ng

 p
ro

du
ct

s 
or

ig
in

at
in

g 
fio

m
 t

he
 C

ity
 o

f 
O

ak
 H

ar
bo

r 
an

d
sh

al
l n

ot
 b

e 
he

ld
 li

ab
le

 fo
r a

ny
 lo

ss
es

 c
au

se
d 

by
 s

uc
h 

re
lia

nc
e 

on
 th

e 
ac

cu
ra

cy
,

re
lia

bi
lit

y 
or

 ti
m

el
in

es
s 

of
 s

uc
h 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n.

 A
ny

 p
er

so
n 

or
 e

nt
ity

 w
ho

 r
el

ie
s 

on
an

y 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
ob

ta
in

ed
 fi

om
 th

e 
sy

st
em

s,
 d

oe
s 

so
 a

t h
is

 o
r h

er
 o

w
n 

ris
k.

AL
L P

RO
PE

RT
IES

 <4
0%

 IL
R 

RA
TIO

De
ve

lop
ab

ilit
y

U
nd

ev
el

op
ab

le

D
ev

el
op

ab
le

Le
ge

nd C
ity

Li
m

its

U
G

A 
- C

ity
 A

do
pt

ed
(N

ot
 in

cl
ud

ed
 in

 s
tu

dy
 a

re
a)

U
G

A 
- C

ou
nt

y 
A

do
pt

ed

23



Ü
D

is
cl

ai
m

er
:

Th
is

 m
ap

 is
 c

re
at

ed
 u

si
ng

 a
ss

es
se

d 
va

lu
e 

da
ta

 s
up

pl
ie

d 
by

 th
e 

Is
la

nd
 C

ou
nt

y
As

se
ss

or
's

 
O

ffi
ce

 
in

 
N

ov
em

be
r, 

20
09

. 
 

Th
e 

m
ap

 
in

di
ca

te
s 

pr
el

im
in

ar
y

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

ba
se

d 
on

 t
he

 d
at

a 
an

d 
is

 s
ub

je
ct

 t
o 

ch
an

ge
 b

as
ed

 o
n 

fu
rth

er
re

se
ar

ch
 a

nd
 o

th
er

 fi
nd

in
gs

 a
s 

th
e 

U
G

A 
ca

pa
ci

ty
 a

na
ly

si
s 

pr
og

re
ss

es
.

N
ei

th
er

 th
e 

C
ity

 o
f O

ak
 H

ar
bo

r n
or

 a
ny

 a
ge

nc
y,

 o
ffi

ce
r, 

or
 e

m
pl

oy
ee

 o
f t

he
 C

ity
of

 O
ak

 H
ar

bo
r w

ar
ra

nt
s 

th
e 

ac
cu

ra
cy

, r
el

ia
bi

lit
y 

or
 ti

m
el

in
es

s 
of

 a
ny

 in
fo

rm
at

io
n

co
nt

ai
ne

d 
on

 m
ap

pi
ng

 p
ro

du
ct

s 
or

ig
in

at
in

g 
fio

m
 t

he
 C

ity
 o

f 
O

ak
 H

ar
bo

r 
an

d
sh

al
l n

ot
 b

e 
he

ld
 li

ab
le

 fo
r a

ny
 lo

ss
es

 c
au

se
d 

by
 s

uc
h 

re
lia

nc
e 

on
 th

e 
ac

cu
ra

cy
,

re
lia

bi
lit

y 
or

 ti
m

el
in

es
s 

of
 s

uc
h 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n.

 A
ny

 p
er

so
n 

or
 e

nt
ity

 w
ho

 r
el

ie
s 

on
an

y 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
ob

ta
in

ed
 fi

om
 th

e 
sy

st
em

s,
 d

oe
s 

so
 a

t h
is

 o
r h

er
 o

w
n 

ris
k.

AL
L P

RO
PE

RT
IES

 <5
0%

 IL
R 

RA
TIO

De
ve

lop
ab

ilit
y

U
nd

ev
el

op
ab

le

D
ev

el
op

ab
le

Le
ge

nd C
ity

Li
m

its

U
G

A 
- C

ity
 A

do
pt

ed
(N

ot
 in

cl
ud

ed
 in

 s
tu

dy
 a

re
a)

U
G

A 
- C

ou
nt

y 
A

do
pt

ed

24



Land Use Distribution of Developable and Undevelopable properties for LTR and ILR (graduated scale)

City UGA City UGA City UGA City UGA City UGA City UGA City UGA City UGA City UGA City UGA
Auto/Industrial Commercial 61.45 5.52 42.87 20.91 61.45 3.25 42.87 23.18 60.15 3.25 44.16 23.18 52.38 3.25 51.93 23.18 41.73 3.25 62.58 23.18
Central Business District 22.94 18.06 20.14 20.86 15.56 25.44 12.38 28.62 10.01 30.99
Community Commercial 91.52 53.39 62.61 4.57 54.47 41.73 99.66 16.23 36.84 39.73 117.29 18.24 22.19 39.15 131.94 18.81 16.70 35.45 137.43 22.51
High Density Residential 52.01 97.84 46.67 103.18 39.93 109.92 31.51 118.34 16.37 133.47
Highway Corridor Commercial 30.08 45.31 25.41 49.98 20.16 55.23 13.93 61.46 9.68 65.71
Industrial 9.43 112.82 10.81 35.56 9.43 98.43 10.81 49.95 9.43 98.43 10.81 49.95 5.58 78.06 14.66 70.32 4.46 78.06 15.79 70.32
Low Density Residential 184.29 148.49 932.01 278.52 160.04 132.33 956.26 294.68 151.43 130.74 964.87 296.27 140.07 115.39 976.22 311.62 129.42 110.99 986.87 316.02
Medium Density Residential 78.04 3.35 122.36 2.11 56.63 3.35 143.78 2.11 53.02 3.35 147.39 2.11 47.49 3.35 152.91 2.11 38.97 3.35 161.43 2.11
Medium-High Density Residential 70.60 13.49 70.60 13.49 68.58 15.51 30.10 53.99 1.74 82.35
Neighborhood Commercial 2.83 3.58 1.58 4.83 1.20 5.21 0.80 5.61 0.80 5.61
Open Space 2.93 7.43 214.21 48.14 2.93 6.58 214.21 48.99 2.93 6.58 214.21 48.99 2.93 6.58 214.21 48.99 2.93 6.58 214.21 48.99
Planned Business Park 69.94 49.84 9.98 4.68 69.94 48.67 9.98 5.84 69.94 44.03 9.98 10.48 69.94 44.03 9.98 10.48 69.94 44.03 9.98 10.48
Planned Industrial Park 49.61 145.75 13.96 116.76 49.61 135.81 13.96 126.70 49.61 117.59 13.96 144.93 49.61 110.38 13.96 152.13 49.61 96.14 13.96 166.38
Public Facilities 9.89 348.46 17.71 9.89 348.46 17.71 9.89 348.46 17.71 9.89 348.46 17.71 9.89 348.46 17.71
Residential Office 23.27 70.12 13.64 79.74 8.37 85.02 4.62 88.77 3.26 90.12
Residential Estate 25.13 45.26 17.11 53.28 16.11 54.28 15.15 55.24 5.59 64.80

758.82 551.72 2005.66 574.22 652.40 487.27 2112.07 638.68 597.03 459.81 2167.44 666.14 493.41 415.35 2271.07 710.60 405.50 383.44 2358.98 742.50
Developable Undevelopable Developable Undevelopable Developable Undevelopable Developable Undevelopable Developable Undevelopable

1310.54 2579.88 1139.67 2750.75 1056.84 2833.58 908.75 2981.67 788.94 3101.48
Total Area 3890.42 3890.42 3890.42 3890.42 3890.42

City UGA City UGA City UGA City UGA City UGA City UGA City UGA City UGA City UGA City UGA
Auto/Industrial Commercial 61.45 3.25 42.87 23.18 61.45 3.25 42.87 23.18 55.65 3.25 48.67 23.18 53.68 3.25 50.64 23.18 41.73 3.25 62.58 23.18
Central Business District 20.98 20.01 18.26 22.73 16.15 24.85 12.08 28.92 10.87 30.13
Community Commercial 46.59 41.71 107.54 16.25 36.90 40.32 117.23 17.65 28.96 40.32 125.17 17.65 22.27 40.13 131.86 17.84 16.86 39.74 137.27 18.22
High Density Residential 48.17 101.68 47.01 102.84 45.74 104.11 42.68 107.17 23.75 126.10
Highway Corridor Commercial 21.61 53.77 20.16 55.23 14.85 60.54 13.93 61.46 13.02 62.37
Industrial 6.12 112.10 14.13 36.27 6.12 112.10 14.13 36.27 2.27 112.10 17.97 36.27 2.27 103.14 17.97 45.23 2.27 90.96 17.97 57.42
Low Density Residential 144.08 128.18 972.21 298.83 142.27 127.75 974.03 299.25 139.62 114.13 976.68 312.88 130.60 114.13 985.69 312.88 114.94 114.13 1001.36 312.88
Medium Density Residential 65.51 3.35 134.89 2.11 65.27 3.35 135.13 2.11 64.03 3.35 136.37 2.11 58.57 3.35 141.83 2.11 52.19 3.35 148.21 2.11
Medium-High Density Residential 71.47 12.62 69.44 14.65 69.44 14.65 67.12 16.97 49.58 34.52
Neighborhood Commercial 1.95 4.46 1.58 4.83 1.17 5.24 1.17 5.24 1.17 5.24
Open Space 3.68 6.24 213.45 49.33 3.68 6.24 213.45 49.33 3.68 6.24 213.45 49.33 3.68 6.24 213.45 49.33 3.68 6.24 213.45 49.33
Planned Business Park 69.94 47.83 9.98 6.68 69.94 47.83 9.98 6.68 69.94 47.83 9.98 6.68 69.94 44.03 9.98 10.48 69.94 44.03 9.98 10.48
Planned Industrial Park 51.22 146.65 12.35 115.86 51.22 146.65 12.35 115.86 51.22 146.65 12.35 115.86 51.22 139.45 12.35 123.07 51.22 127.25 12.35 135.27
Public Facilities 10.30 17.71 10.30 17.71 10.30 17.71 10.30 17.71 10.30 17.71
Residential Office 10.43 82.95 8.77 84.61 5.03 88.36 4.75 88.63 4.12 89.26
Residential Estate 16.11 54.28 16.11 54.28 16.11 54.28 15.15 55.24 15.15 55.24

633.49 505.44 1782.93 620.51 612.36 503.62 1804.06 622.33 578.04 489.99 1838.38 635.95 544.25 468.88 1872.17 657.07 465.63 444.11 1950.79 681.84
Developable Undevelopable Developable Undevelopable Developable Undevelopable Developable Undevelopable Developable Undevelopable

1138.93 2403.44 1115.98 2426.39 1068.04 2474.33 1013.13 2529.24 909.73 2632.63
Total Area 3542.36 910 3542.36 3542.36 3542.36 3542.36

Undevelopable
ILR Ratio > 10%

Developable Undevelopable Developable Undevelopable Developable Undevelopable Developable Undevelopable Developable
ILR Ratio > 50% ILR Ratio > 40% ILR Ratio > 30% ILR Ratio > 20%

Total Land to Value Ratio > 90%
Developable Undevelopable

Total Value to Land Ratio > 70%
Developable Undevelopable

Total Land to Vlaue Ratio > 80%
Developable UndevelopableDevelopable Undevelopable

Total Land to Value Ratio > 50% Total Land to value Ratio > 60%
Developable Undevelopable

25



26



27



28



29



Shoreline Substantial  

Development 

Conditional Use Permit 

 

Public Hearing 

 

30



  

1 

 
 
FROM: Ethan Spoo, AICP  

Senior Planner 
   
 
PURPOSE 
This report presents the application (Attachments 1, 2, and 3) for a Shoreline Substantial 
Development Conditional Use Permit by the City of Oak Harbor for the Pioneer Way 
Street Improvements Project in downtown Oak Harbor.  
 
AUTHORITY 
RCW 98.58.050 provides the authority and the responsibility to local governments for the 
planning and administering the shoreline regulatory program consistent with the 
Shoreline Management Act. The City’s adopted Shoreline Master Program establishes 
that the Planning Commission shall serve as the hearing body for these applications. 
 
The report highlights the goals and policies that are relevant to the review of the 
Shoreline Substantial Development Conditional Use Permit (SSDCUP) application.  The 
application for SSDCUP applies to the easterly 125 feet of the project near the 
intersection with Midway Boulevard. This is the only portion of the project which is 
within the regulated shoreline area of the state as defined by RCW 90.58.030 and is 
therefore the only portion of the project which requires the approval of the SSDCUP. 
Proposed findings of fact on the project are also included with the report. The shoreline 
review process is intended to review the project against the shoreline criteria.  The design 
of the street is not the subject of the shoreline permit.  
 
BACKGROUND 
Existing Conditions 
SE Pioneer Way is the primary thoroughfare and main street in historic downtown Oak 
Harbor. Pioneer Way also serves as the primary vehicle and pedestrian access for the 
commercial businesses, restaurants, and taverns fronting the street and is used as a way of 
accessing the Navy Seaplane Base to the east of downtown. The street has existed in one 
form or another at least since the Town of Oak Harbor was established in 1889. Since 
that time, the street has been improved to have two, east-west vehicle travel lanes, on-
street parallel parking, and a variable width concrete sidewalk ranging from 5 – 8 feet 
wide. Planter areas are interspersed along the street containing a mix of trees and shrubs.  
 
The proposed project will add multi-modal and pedestrian-friendly street improvements 
and streetscape enhancements. The project includes the removal and replacement of the 
entire surface street cross section, storm drainage conveyance system, and sanitary sewer 
system within the limits of the existing infrastructure. In addition, streetscape 
improvements include widening sidewalks, and providing on-street parking. Existing 
overhead utilities will be relocated underground. The project is limited to the area 

  Date: September 28, 2010 
Subject: Shoreline Substantial 

Development Conditional Use 
Permit for Pioneer Way Street 
Improvements Project  

City of Oak Harbor 
Planning Commission Report 

31



  

2 

between City Beach Street and Midway Boulevard as shown on the attached plans in 
Attachment 3. 
 
The proposed project improvements will not only add multi-modal facilities and enhance 
the aesthetic qualities of the streetscape, but will also remedy existing problems with the 
aging stormwater and sewer system. Standing puddles of water exist along portions of 
Pioneer Way after rainfall, because the existing stormwater conveyance system is not 
fully functional. The sidewalk is cracked and buckled in multiple places. 
 
Project area and proposed improvements 
Within the regulated shoreline area, specific improvements will include: 

• Parking. Angled on-street parking will be located on the north side of the street, 
• A 15-foot wide vehicle travel lane 
• Curb and gutter along the north and south sides of SE Pioneer Way 
• Sidewalk improvements on both the north and south sides of Pioneer Way 
• Sidewalk improvements which will round the corner on Pioneer Way and connect 

with the sidewalk on SE Bayshore Street. 
• Street trees on the southside of Pioneer Way. 
• Below grade sanitary sewer and storm drain infrastructure improvements. 
• Undergrounding of existing overhead utility lines. 

 
Shoreline Substantial Development Conditional Use Permit 
Shoreline Substantial Development permits are usually required for permitted 
improvements within the regulated shoreline area. However, Section 5.01 of the City’s 
Shoreline Master Program (SMP) indicates that transportation facilities are only 
permitted conditionally in the “urban” shoreline designation where the proposed project 
is located. For this reason, a Shoreline Substantial Development Conditional Use Permit 
is required and the project must comply with the conditional use permit criteria in Section 
7.03 of the City’s SMP. 
 
Public Notice 
A Notice of Application (NOA) for the proposed project was posted on the property and 
published in the newspaper, as per the requirement of the Shoreline Master Program for 
two consecutive weeks, on July 10, 2010 and July 17, 2010.  The notice provided a 
comment period of 30 days with a deadline of August 18, 2010.  Property owners within 
300 feet of the project were also notified my mail. 
 
The Public Hearing for the Planning Commission was advertised in the newspaper on 
September 11, 2010. The hearing notice was also mailed to property owners within 300 
feet.  Pioneer Way commercial tenants were included in the mailing list. Staff did not 
receive any comments on the SSDCUP during the comment period. 
 
SEPA 
A SEPA checklist was submitted along with the application.  The Notice of Application 
was published in the local newspaper on July 10, 2010 and July 17, 2010.  The deadline 
for comments was July 26, 2010.  Staff received one comment from Island Transit 
requesting that Dock Street south of Pioneer Way be converted to a one way street. 
 

32



  

3 

A Mitigated Determination of Non Significance was issued for the project on August 6, 
2010.  Notice of the determination was published in the local newspaper on August 7th 
with the comment period ending on August 23, 2010. The SEPA appeal period ended on 
September 6, 2010.  No comments or appeals were received. 
 
A copy of the Determination and the SEPA checklist has been included (Attachment 3) 
for Planning Commission’s reference. Because Pioneer Way is an existing street, the 
newly proposed street will largely have the same shoreline impacts as the existing street. 
For this reason, the mitigation measures included in the determination address 
construction impacts. Mitigation measures include a requirement to follow the 
recommendations in the geotechnical report, maintenance of proper erosion control 
techniques to control construction runoff into the Shoreline area, maintenance of a 
response plan for hazardous spills, notice to property owners of any nighttime 
construction which may occur, and notice to Island Transit for construction which would 
affect transit services. 
 
For more details on the mitigation measures, please refer to the MDNS in Attachment 4.  
 
REVIEW AGAINST POLICIES AND REGULATIONS 
Pioneer Way is located within the “urban” shoreline environment as defined in the City’s 
adopted SMP.  The proposed project is a conditional use within this designation.  This 
staff report reviews the project against the relevant shoreline policies and regulations, 
proceeding from the general policies and regulations which apply to all substantial 
developments and ending with the more specific conditional use permit criteria. The 
compliance report is thus organized as follows:  

• Urban Environment (Section 4.02). The policies and regulations review projects 
which are located within the “urban” shoreline environment. This is the shoreline 
environment which allows the most intense type of development of all the 
shoreline environments (acquatic and natural are less intense designations).  

• General Regulations (5.02). The General Regulations apply to all shoreline 
substantial development projects and are not specific to transportation facilities. 

•  Transportation Facilities (Section 5.19). The policies in this section are specific 
to new transportation facilities and improvements to existing transportation 
facilities within the regulated shoreline area.  

• Utilities (Section 5.20). The policies in this section are specific to new utility 
facilities and improved utility facilities within the regulated shoreline area. 

• Conditional Use Criteria (Section 7.03). Because transportation facilities are 
conditional uses in the “urban” environment designation, the project must meet 
the conditional use permit criteria in Section 7.03 of the Shoreline Master 
Program. 

 
4.02 Urban Environment – Management Policies 

The project is located within the shoreline “urban” environment. Applicable management 
policies include: 

3. Provide public access to the shoreline. New and expanded development should be 
designed to include physical or visual access. 

33



  

4 

The proposed improvements are a roadway project which includes physical access to the 
regulated shoreline area in the form of sidewalks, bike lanes, and a vehicle travel lane. 
Because the roadway will occur in the existing area of improvements, visual access to the 
shoreline will not be affected. 

4. Link public access points by pedestrian routes where practical. 

The wider sidewalks and bike lanes proposed as part of the project will help enhance 
access to the shoreline and will connect with the existing system of sidewalks and access 
points to the shoreline, such as the waterfront trail system. 

7. Regulate urban shoreline development to minimize adverse impacts on adjacent 
shoreline and upland areas. 

As a “transportation facility” in the “urban” shoreline environment, the proposed 
improvements for Pioneer Way are regulated by the provisions of the City’s SMP. 
Compliance with the City’s SMP is demonstrated by this report and by the Shoreline 
Substantial Development Conditional Use Permit application materials submitted by the 
applicant dated June 11, 2010 which are attached as Attachements 1 – 3. 

 
5.02 General Regulations 

The following general regulations apply to all use activities proposed within the regulated 
shoreline area. As such, every substantial development within the shoreline is reviewed 
against these general regulations. The general regulations are not specific to 
transportation projects. 

1. Environmental Protection 

a. All uses and developments within the shoreline or over the water shall be located, 
designed and constructed to avoid disturbance of and detrimental effects on 
aquatic habitats, water circulation and erosion accretion processes. 

The project will occur entirely within the existing area of improvements for Pioneer Way 
and thus will not have an increased environmental impacts from what currently exists. 
During construction, stormwater BMPS will be used to minimize potential for erosion 
and siltation. A mitigated determination of non-significance (MDNS) was issued for the 
project according to the provisions of RCW 43.91 on August 6, 2010 which determined 
that no significant environmental impacts would occur as a result of the construction and 
operation of the project. 

b. All shoreline and over water developments shall use measures to minimize 
increases in surface runoff and shall control runoff so that adjacent properties 
and water bodies are not degraded by sedimentation or pollutants. 

As part of the project, new stormwater infrastructure will be installed which will contain 
and treat any surface runoff created by the project. The stormwater infrastructure will 
meet the standards of the 2005 Stormwater Management Manual for Western 
Washington. The new stormwater system will remedy existing stormwater problems on 
Pioneer Way which include pooling and standing bodies of water which affect adjacent 
properties. 

34



  

5 

c. The release of oil, chemicals and other hazardous materials into the water is 
prohibited. 

The project will contain both temporary and permanent stormwater treatment techniques 
which will prevent release of oil, chemicals and other hazardous materials into the Puget 
Sound. Additionally, the construction contractor will be required to have a spill response 
plan in place prior to commencing construction. 

d. All uses and developments within the shoreline or over the water shall use 
effective methods for control of erosion during construction and operation. 

As previously mentioned, the project will utilize stormwater BMPs during construction 
and operation. Temporary controls may include silt blankets and silt fences. Permanent 
stormwater infrastructure will be installed as part of the project which will meet standards 
in the 2005 Stormwater Management Manual for Western Washington. 

e. Clearing, grading or filling for site preparation shall be limited to the minimum 
amount necessary for development. 

The project improvements will occur entirely within the limits of existing Pioneer Way 
improvements. Thus, grading and filling activities will occur only within areas which 
have already been graded and filled. 

2. Public Access 

a. Public access shall be required for all over water and shoreline development 
except single family residential development provided that public access may not 
be required where it is demonstrated by the applicant and determined by the City 
in it’s findings that one or more of the following provisions apply: 

The project will contain public access to the regulated shoreline area in the form of 8 to 
10-foot sidewalks on both the north and the south sides of Pioneer Way. 

b. No development shall be permitted to obstruct or impede public access to 
publicly owned shorelines. 

The street improvements will be constructed at grade and will not impede access to 
publicly owned shorelines. 

c. Any public open space, access area or view corridor, required or otherwise 
provided in association with new or expanded development shall be of a size, 
location and design appropriate to the site proposed, primary use, adjacent uses, 
and the existing and projected demand by the community. 

The applicant is proposing public open spaces in the form of wider sidewalks and curb 
bump out areas. These areas are appropriate for the size and location of the project in a 
historic downtown. 

d. To the extent possible, public access locations shall have access from public 
roads. 

The public access to the regulated shoreline area will be in the form of 8 to 10-foot wide 
sidewalks on either side of Pioneer Way, which is a public street. 

e. Public access signs such as the standard state approved, local or equivalent shall 
be constructed, installed and maintained by the applicant. If the Council 
determines that use limitations are appropriate for reasons of public safety or to 

35



  

6 

avoid use conflicts, such limitations shall be specified in permit conditions and 
posted on an on premise sign. 

In this case, the public access to the shoreline is the public right-of-way, which will offer 
unrestricted public access to the regulated shoreline area. The above provision requiring 
public access signs refers to public access over private property, which is not applicable 
in this case. Therefore, the requirement does not apply. 

f. Required public access sites shall be fully developed and available for public use 
at the time of occupancy or use of the development. 

Public access via the 8 to 10-foot wide sidewalks will be fully developed and available at 
the time the newly reconstructed Pioneer Way is available for use by the public. Some 
form of public access to the Shoreline will be maintained throughout construction. 

g. Provisions for handicapped impaired persons shall be included in conformance 
with the Americans with Disabilities Act. 

The proposed sidewalk facilities located on the north and south sides of Pioneer Way will 
be ADA compliant having 4 feet or more of unobstructed width and a grade of less than 
8.33%. 

h. Public access easements and permit conditions shall be recorded on property 
deeds and, in the case of a subdivision, on the face of a plat as a covenant 
running in perpetuity with the land. The required easement and/or covenant shall 
be recorded with the County Auditor’s office at the time of permit approval. 

Since Pioneer Way is a public right-of-way, there are no public access easements to the 
shoreline required. Therefore, this provision is not applicable. 

i. Future actions shall not diminish the usefulness or value of the public access. 

As a public right-of-way, the sidewalks proposed as part of the project will be maintained 
in perpetuity. 

 
5.19 Transportation Facilities – Policies 

These policies are intended to apply to new and improved transportation facilities with 
the regulated shoreline area. Many of these policies are directed at the development of 
new transportation facilities within the shoreline. Since the subject project is an 
improvement to an already existing street, many of the transportation policies do not 
apply. 

1. Transportation facilities should not be located over water or on shorelines if they 
could feasibly and practically be located elsewhere. 

The project proposes to make improvements to an existing, long establish public right-of-
way. The proposed improvements are not located over water, but do occur within the 
City’s regulated shoreline area, as previously noted. However, the improvements cannot 
feasibly or practically be located elsewhere since the road alignment and its surrounding 
land uses have long been established in their current location. 

2. When transportation facilities are located over water or on shorelines, they 
should be designed and constructed to minimize their impacts on shoreline 
resources and natural systems. See also, Section 5.13, regulation #3. 

36



  

7 

As previously mentioned, the proposed project improvements will occur within the limits 
of the existing Pioneer Way street improvements. Pioneer Way is one of the oldest right-
of-ways in Oak Harbor and existed prior to the adoption of the Shoreline Management 
Act by the State of Washington. While the proposed improvements will occur within the 
City’s regulated shoreline, there is no other feasible location for the roadway since the 
roadway and surrounding land uses have long been in existence. Within the proposed 
limits of work, the improvements will not degrade or affect shoreline resources and 
natural systems since no such resources or systems now exist within the project area. 

3. Rights of way and other facilities that provide scenic views or access to the water 
should be retained in public ownership and kept open whenever possible. 

Pioneer Way is an existing public right-of-way and will remain public with the proposed 
improvements. Therefore, this criterion is met. 

4. Transportation facilities and utilities should be installed in the same rights of way 
when the effect will be to reduce adverse impacts of installation on shorelines. 

All proposed improvements will be installed in the existing area of improvements for 
Pioneer Way. Therefore, this criteria is met. 

4. Trails and bicycle routes along shorelines should be provided in conformance 
with the Oak Harbor Comprehensive Parks and Recreation Plan. 

The Oak Harbor Comprehensive Parks and Recreation Plan calls for a bicycle route along 
Pioneer Way. In conformance with the Class III Bicycle/Multiuse Trail design guidelines 
from the Parks Plan, the applicant is being conditioned to provide signage indicating that 
Pioneer Way is a bicycle route. This criterion is met with the provision of signage along 
the project corridor. 

 
5.19 Transportation Facilities – Regulations 

1. New arterial or collector roads shall be located outside the shoreline area if an 
upland location is feasible and practical. 

The proposed street improvements do not constitute a “new” arterial or collector road 
since all improvements will be contained within the existing Pioneer Way road prism. It 
is not feasible, therefore, to locate improvements outside the shoreline area. 

2. New transportation facilities shall be located and designed to minimize need for 
landfill, vegetation removal, bank stabilization and grading. 

All proposed improvements will occur within the existing improvement area of Pioneer 
Way which was graded, filled and removed of vegetation with previous road 
improvements. This requirement does not apply.  

3. Graded areas and slopes altered during construction shall be stabilized and 
where appropriate, planted with native vegetation. 

All site improvements will occur within the existing Pioneer Way street improvements 
and within previously graded areas. No slopes will be altered during construction. 
Therefore, this provision is not applicable. 

4. Provisions for pedestrian access where appropriate shall be included in new 
public transportation facilities to and along the shoreline. 

37



  

8 

The project will include 8 to 10-foot wide sidewalks which will provide access to the 
regulated shoreline area. These sidewalks will, in turn, connect with the waterfront trail 
system. Therefore, this requirement is met. 

5.19 Transportation Facilities – Regulations by Environment (Urban, Urban 
Residential) 

 Transportation facilities shall be permitted in the urban or urban residential 
environment subject to the policies and regulations of this Master Program. 

As a transportation facility, the proposed improvements are permitted in the “urban” 
environment subject to the conditional use permit criteria in section 7.03 of the City’s 
Shoreline Master Program. 

5.20 Utilities – Policies 
These policies generally apply to installation of new and improved utilities, including 
sanitary and stormwater facilities with the shoreline area. Many of these policies are 
directed toward the placement of new utilities within the shoreline and therefore, do not 
apply to this project. 

 
1. Utilities and transportation facilities should be installed in the same rights of way 

when the effect will be to reduce adverse impacts on the shoreline. 

Nearly all of the proposed project improvements, including improvements to sewer and 
stormwater utilities will occur in the same right-of-way as the existing Pioneer Way street 
improvements. The City is in the process of acquiring small portions of property from 
adjacent property owners to ensure that all street improvements will occur within the 
public right-of-way. Furthermore, since all improvements will occur within the existing 
improved area, no additional adverse impacts to the shoreline are anticipated. 

2. Disturbance of the shoreline resulting from installation and/or maintenance of 
utilities should be minimized. 

New sewer, stormwater, and electric utilities will be installed as part of the Pioneer Way 
improvement project. These utilities will be installed within the existing roadway prism 
and  thus will not negatively impact the shoreline environment in any way. 

3. New utility facilities should be located underground to prevent adverse effects on 
scenic views. 

All new utility lines and facilities will be located underground. Existing overhead utilities 
will be relocated underground. Therefore, this criterion is met. 

 
5.20 Utilities - Regulations 

1. Immediately upon completion of utilities installation or maintenance projects, 
shoreline areas disturbed shall be restored to pre-project configurations, replanting with 
local vegetation and the vegetation maintained until it is firmly established.  
Although the eastern portion of this project within the regulated shoreline of Oak Harbor, 
no restoration or replanting is necessary since the project will occur entirely within the 
existing area of improvements. 

38



  

9 

2. Utility lines, pipes, stations, plants and other apparatus shall not be installed in 
shoreline areas unless there is no feasible alternative. 

Pioneer Way is a long established thoroughfare in downtown Oak Harbor. The proposed 
street improvements will require the installation of new sewer, stormwater and electric 
utilities beneath the street section. Since this is a street improvement project and 
relocation and/or realignment of the street to be out of the shoreline is not possible, it is 
not feasible to locate utility facilities outside of the shoreline area. 

3. Utility lines shall be installed underground. 

All new utility facilities and the existing overhead utility wires will be placed 
underground. Therefore, the provision is met. 

4. Underwater cables and utility structures which must cross shorelines shall be 
installed underground from the OHWM mark to a point landward which allows 
for unimpeded public access. 

No underwater cables or utility structures are required as proposed as part of this project. 
The requirement does not apply. 

5. Where utility installation on shoreline areas is approved, clearing shall be 
confined to the minimum necessary for installation and to prevent interference of 
operation by vegetation. 

Clearing of the shoreline will not be necessary since all utilities will be placed 
underground in the area of existing improvements for Pioneer Way. Therefore, this 
requirement is met. 

6. Where utility lines or similar apparatus must cross shorelines they shall be 
located within the route which will cause the least ecological and aesthetic damage to the 
shoreline. 

All new utilities will be installed within the existing Pioneer Way limit of improvements. 
Locating utilities in this area is not only the most cost effective placement but will not 
further impact shoreline ecology in any way. 

 

7.03 Criteria for Conditional Uses 

Conditional uses shall be approved only when the applicant can demonstrate that all of 
the following criteria are met: 
1. That the proposed use is consistent with the policies of RCW 90.58.020 and the 
policies of this Master Program. 

RCW 90.58.020 says the following about proposed uses within the shoreline: 

“…uses shall be preferred which are consistent with control of pollution and 
prevention of damage to the natural environment, or are unique to or dependent 
upon use of the state’s shoreline. Alterations of the natural condition of the 
shorelines of the state, in those limited instances when authorized, shall be given 
priority for single family residences and their appurtenant structures, ports, 
shoreline recreational uses including but not limited to parks, marinas, piers, and 
other improvements facilitating public access to the shorelines of the state, 
industrial and commercial developments which are particularly dependent on 

39



  

10 

their location on or use of the shorelines of the state and other development that 
will provide an opportunity for substantial numbers of the people to enjoy the 
shorelines of the state.” 

The proposed improvements for Pioneer Way will occur entirely within the existing road 
section and will not occur on previously undeveloped land. For this reason, the 
improvements will largely leave the shoreline environment unaffected from its existing 
condition. The stormwater system improvements proposed as part of the project will help 
control pollution from the project. The street improvements will help facilitate public 
access to the shoreline area through the provision of wider sidewalks. Therefore, the 
proposed project meets the policies of RCW 90.58.020.  

Consistency with the policies of this Master Program is demonstrated by the applicant’s 
submittal and this staff report. 

2. That the proposed use will not interfere with the normal public use of public 
shorelines or water. 

Since Pioneer Way is an existing street and the proposed project improvements will 
remain entirely within the existing area of improvements, the proposed improvements 
will in no way affect the normal public use of the shorelines or water. In fact, the 
construction of the project will enhance the normal public use of the shoreline. Residents 
and visitors of Oak Harbor will continue to be able to use the waterfront trail system, 
Windjammer Park, Flintstone Park, Hal Ramaley Park, Smith Park and the shoreline 
itself. Eastbound vehicle traffic going to the Navy Sea Plane Base or the Marina can 
continue to use Pioneer Way to reach their destination or can use Bayshore Drive as an 
alternative route. 

3. That the proposed use of the site and design of the project is compatible with 
other permitted uses within the area. 

Pioneer Way is a long-established public right-of-way which provides access to the 
adjacent land uses. Because the proposed use of Pioneer Way as a public right-of-way 
will not change with this project, the use of Pioneer Way will continue to be compatible 
with the adjacent and permitted uses in the area. 

Since the proposed use of the site will remain a public right-of-way, compatibility with 
surrounding uses should be viewed in terms of the primary purpose of the street to 
facilitate access to adjacent businesses. Whereas the existing use of the street emphasizes 
vehicle travel through downtown to the Navy Seaplane Base and to Highway 20, the 
Comprehensive Plan, zoning code, and Windjammer Plan all envision Pioneer Way to be 
a pedestrian-oriented district in the future, rather than a thoroughfare for cars.  

Due to the historic nature of the downtown district, properties and storefronts along 
Pioneer Way are narrow, generally ranging in size from 30-70 feet in width. The 
downtown came into existence before cars, and thus was designed primarily for 
pedestrians as reflected by the narrow storefronts and lot widths, in contrast to auto-
dominated areas like Highway 20. The Comprehensive Plan, zoning code, and 
Windjammer Plan all point toward the need to bring the pedestrian-oriented character 
back to downtown. The new design of Pioneer Way with wider sidewalks, street trees, 
public art and bicycle travel areas will help make this pedestrian oriented atmosphere a 
reality. Angled parking will offer convenient access for vehicles, and encourage people to 
get out of their cars and walk between businesses. Therefore, the proposed use of the site, 

40



  

11 

is compatible not only with the City’s visions for the district, but also with the historic 
character of the district. 

4. That the proposed use will cause no unreasonably adverse effects to the shoreline 
environment in which it is to be located. 

Because the street improvements will occur within the existing area of improvements for 
Pioneer Way, staff does not anticipate additional adverse environmental impacts. 
Although the eastern portion of the street improvements will be within the regulated 
Shoreline area, Pioneer Way is physically separated from the water’s edge. The street 
improvements will not encroach further into the regulated Shoreline area, or further 
impact plant and animal communities along the Shoreline. The newly proposed 
stormwater infrastructure in Pioneer Way will better capture these pollutants than the 
existing stormwater infrastructure, reducing the existing negative stormwater impacts to 
the shoreline. Therefore, the proposed project will not cause unreasonably adverse effects 
to the shoreline environment and will, in fact, reduce these impacts. 

5. That the public interest suffers no substantial, detrimental effect. 

The Shoreline Management Act and implementing regulations (WAC 173-27-030) define 
public interest in the following way:  

‘Public interest’ means the interest shared by the citizens of the state or 
community at large in the affairs of government, or some interest by which their 
rights or liabilities are affected including, but not limited to, an effect on public 
property or on health, safety, or general welfare resulting from a use or 
development. 

The public health and safety will not be negatively impacted by this project. The new 
stormwater infrastructure, wider sidewalks, and one-way street configuration will all 
positively impact public health and safety by resulting in cleaner stormwater, better 
pedestrian infrastructure and a slowing of vehicles along Pioneer Way reducing the 
chance of traffic accidents.  

Pioneer Way serves several public purposes including (in no order of priority): (1) as the 
primary form of access to businesses, offices, and residences along Pioneer Way (2) as a 
vehicle/pedestrian traffic conductor to areas east and west of downtown (3) as a way of 
accessing the City’s shoreline and waterfront trail system which connects to Pioneer Way 
(4) As a way of connecting to streets, land uses, and recreational opportunities north and 
south of Pioneer Way.  

Access to Pioneer Way businesses will continue to be provided and even be enhanced in 
some aspects. Pedestrian access will be enhanced through the provision of wider 
sidewalks. Vehicle access will be enhanced through the provision of more convenient 
angled parking which will allow vehicles to more quickly pull-into a parking spot. 
Pioneer Way will continue to be a traffic conductor for areas east of downtown. Although 
westbound traffic will no longer be allowed, westbound traffic can find redundant access 
along SE Bayshore Street and the Midway/Barrington corridor, therefore this critical 
public purpose will not be lost. Access to streets, land uses, and recreational opportunities 
north and south of Pioneer Way will continue to be provided. All of these critical public 
functions will remain intact after the proposed improvements are complete. For these 
reasons, staff believes that the public interest, as defined by WAC 173-27-030 will suffer 
no detrimental effect, 

41



  

12 

 

6. With respect to uses which are not classified or set forth in this Master Program 
the applicant must demonstrate, in addition to the criteria set forth in 1 through 5 
above, that extraordinary circumstances preclude reasonable use of the property 
in a manner consistent with the use regulations of the Master Program. 

As a public road, Pioneer Way is classified and set forth as a “transportation facility” in 
the Shoreline Master Program and is listed as a conditional use in “Table of Uses” in 
Section 5.01 of that document. Therefore, the use is classified and set forth in the Master 
Program and the criteria is not applicable. 

 
SUMMARY 
The above discussion indicates that the portion of the Pioneer Way Street Improvement 
Project which is within the regulated shoreline is consistent with the Shoreline Master 
Program and specifically the conditional use permit criteria.  Conditions of approval are 
attached in the Findings of Fact.  Because the proposed improvements will occur within 
the existing area of improvements, staff does not expect negative impacts from the 
project on the shoreline ecology or environment. Existing deficiencies with the street, 
such as the malfunctioning stormwater system will be remedied with this project, leading 
to less environmental impacts. 
 
The proposed project is also consistent with the City’s Transportation Element of the 
Comprehensive Plan and the Capital Improvement  Plan. It is in the second highest 
priority project identified by the Capital Improvement Plan. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
1. Conduct the public hearing. 
2. Recommend that the City Council approve the Shoreline Substantial 

Development Conditional Use Permit 
3. Adopt the “Findings of Fact” (Attachment 5) 
 
ATTACHMENTS  
Attachment 1 - Shoreline Substantial Development Conditional Use Permit  

Narrative 
Attachment 2  JARPA Application 
Attachment 3 - Existing Conditions Plan, Proposed Conditions Plan, and Roadway  

  Plan 
Attachment 4 - MDNS and SEPA checklist 
Attachment 5 - Findings of Fact 
 

42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



95



96



97



98



Adult Entertainment Ordinance 

 

Public Hearing 

99



 

PLANNING COMMISSION 

TO: CITY OF OAK HARBOR PLANNING COMMISSIONERS 

FROM: CAC KAMAK, AICP, SENIOR PLANNER 

SUBJECT: ADULT ENTERTAINMENT FACILITIES OVERLAY DISTRICT – PUBLIC 
HEARING 

DATE: 9/23/2010 

CC: STEVE POWERS, AICP, DEVELOPMENT SERVICES DIRECTOR 
 

The City Council approved the work plan for the extension of the interim Adult 
Entertainment Facilities Overlay District on September 7, 2010. Staff is continuing to 
research and work on the tasks approved in the work plan.  More information will be 
available at the October 26, 2010 meeting.  Therefore, staff recommends continuing the 
public hearing to the October 26, 2010 meeting. 

 

100



Permit Extension for 

Adult Day Care 

Conditional Use Permit 

 

Public Hearing 

101



Planning Commission 
Meeting of September 28, 2010 

Adult Day Care Facility 
Staff Report 

1

Agenda Item No. 5 – Adult Day Care Facility: 
Extension of modular building permit  

 
Project Information 
Property Owners: City of Oak Harbor 
Location: 917 E. Whidbey Avenue 
Zoning: PF Public Facilities  
Comprehensive Plan: Public Facilities  
Site Area:  0.6095 Acres 
Adjacent Uses: Public Facilities, Residential Office  
 
 
Request 
Mr. Mike McIntyre, Senior Services Director, requests a permit extension for the existing 
Daybreak Adult Care Facility.  The extension would allow for the continued use of an 
existing modular structure within the Public Facilities (PF) zone. 
 
In a memo addressed to the Development Services Department Director (please see 
Exhibit A), Mr. McIntyre notes the existing use of the building for senior services related 
programs and events.  He also notes that plans for development of a senior center 
replacement facility have been suspended due to the deterioration of economic 
conditions. 
 
History 
The adult daycare program cares for disabled or elderly individuals for periods of time 
during the day by providing activities and attending to specific needs, offering assistance 
to caretakers of the individuals.  The adult daycare program was relocated to city-owned 
property, with Public Facilities zoning, in 2001 and was housed in a modular home.  The 
use of a modular home for this type of activity is specifically allowed by the standards of 
the Public Facilities zoning district.  The initial approval of a modular structure is good 
for a period of five years; two year extensions of the use are available subject to Planning 
Commission approval. 
 
Application Review 
Oak Harbor Municipal Code (OHMC) 19.20.792 authorizes a manufactured home to be 
placed within the Public Facilities district to serve non-residential uses listed in the 
permitted and conditional uses of the Public Facilities zoning district.  OHMC 19.20.775 
(3) provides for senior centers and adult day care centers as a primary permitted use 
within the Public Facilities zoning district.  The modular may be placed in this zoning 
district for a period not to exceed five years.  The building permit for this modular (BLD-
01-353) was approved in August 2001.  Two-year extensions may be approved by the 
Planning Commission.   
 
 

102



Planning Commission 
Meeting of September 28, 2010 

Adult Day Care Facility 
Staff Report 

2

Analysis 
When first proposed, project was reviewed by staff and found to be consistent with the 
intent of the Oak Harbor Comprehensive Plan and the provisions of the Oak Harbor 
Municipal Code.  Specifically, the Comprehensive Plan Government Service Element 
(Goal 7) outlines the need to continue to provide senior citizens with recreational, social, 
educational, and health maintenance services designed to meet their needs.  All 
applicable provisions of the Municipal Code were met.  Accordingly, staff supported the 
original request and the subsequent time extensions. 
 
There have been no significant changes in land use or changes in area conditions such 
either the original approval or the time extension.  Staff supports the continuation of this 
land use at this location.  Staff believes that the additional two-year extension to the 
modular structure will allow the City to continue to provide building space for important 
senior-related services.  Staff finds the proposed project to be in conformance with the 
Oak Harbor Municipal Code and the Oak Harbor Comprehensive Plan.   
 
Conclusion 
Based on the above analysis, staff finds that the two year extension for the Oak Harbor 
Adult Day Care Modular has met the requirements and development regulations of the 
Oak Harbor Municipal Code and the Comprehensive Plan and as such the public interest 
will be served by the extension.   
 
Therefore, staff recommends APPROVAL of the two-year extension for the use of an 
existing modular structure in the Public Facilities zoning district. 
 
Recommendation 
1. Conduct the public hearing. 
2. Adopt Findings, Conclusions and Record of Decision and approve the two-year 

extension for the use of an existing modular structure in the Public Facilities 
zoning district. 

 
Attachments: 
A.   Memo from Mr. Mike McIntyre, Senior Services Director, dated August 16, 2010. 
B. Findings, Conclusion and Record of Decision dated September 28, 2010 
 
 

103



104



105



106



2010 

Comprehensive Plan 

Amendments 

 

Public Hearing 

107



 

PLANNING COMMISSION 

TO: CITY OF OAK HARBOR PLANNING COMMISSIONERS 

FROM: CAC KAMAK, AICP, SENIOR PLANNER 

SUBJECT: 2010 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AMENDMENTS – PUBLIC HEARING 

DATE: 9/23/2010 

CC: STEVE POWERS, AICP, DEVELOPMENT SERVICES DIRECTOR 
 

Due to some delays in compiling some financial information for the completion of the 
update to the Capital Improvements Plan, Staff recommends rescheduling the public 
hearing to the October 26, 2010 meeting. 

 

108



Code Amendments: 

Development Application Vesting 

Administrative Appeals of Final EIS 

 

 

Public Hearing 

109



 

PLANNING COMMISSION 

TO: CITY OF OAK HARBOR PLANNING COMMISSIONERS 

FROM: STEVE POWERS, AICP, DEVELOPMENT SERVICES DIRECTOR 

SUBJECT:  PUBLIC HEARING – CODE AMENDMENTS: 

DEVELOPMENT APPLICATION VESTING 

ADMINISTRATIVE APPEALS OF FINAL EIS  

DATE: 9/23/2010 

 

Attached for your consideration is the City Council agenda bill which summarizes the 
purpose and background information for the code amendments.  Two draft ordinances 
amending the appropriate Municipal Code sections are also attached.  

 

110



Code Amend - Vesting and SEPA.doc 

 Bill No. ___________________ 
 Date: October 19, 2010 
 Subject: Municipal Code Amendments: 

Application Vesting and SEPA Appeals  
 
 
FROM: Steve Powers 
   Development Services Director 
 
INITIALED AS APPROVED FOR SUBMITTAL TO THE COUNCIL BY: 
 
            Jim Slowik, Mayor 
            Paul Schmidt, City Administrator 
            Doug Merriman, Finance Director 
            Margery Hite, City Attorney, as to form 
 
 
PURPOSE 
The agenda bill presents amendments to the Oak Harbor Municipal Code intended to clarify 
when development applications vest and to clarify the City’s SEPA appeal procedures. 
 
AUTHORITY 
Vested rights doctrine is codified in RCW 19.27.095, RCW 58.17.033 and RCW 36.70B.180.  
Administrative appeals of SEPA determinations are addressed in RCW 43.21.060, 43.21C.075 
and 43.21C.080 and in WAC 197-11-680. 
 
SUMMARY STATEMENT 
The City’s insurance provider, the Washington Cities Insurance Authority (WCIA) conducts 
annual audits of their member cities.  Each audit focuses on a particular city function.  The 2009 
audit reviewed the City’s land use procedures.  Staff is pleased to report that the City’s land use 
review and approval procedures are substantially in line with WCIA’s recommendations.  Only 
four minor areas required additional attention by the City.  Two of these items are administrative 
in nature and are nearly complete.  Two require minor code amendments: one addressing the 
vesting rights of development applications and the other addressing administrative appeals of 
Final Environmental Impact Statements (part of the SEPA process).  The City is required to 
incorporate these recommendations into our procedures by October 31, 2010. 
 
DISCUSSION 
Staff has reviewed the existing Municipal Code to determine where to best incorporate the 
required code amendments.  The “vested rights” amendment should be included in OHMC 
Chapter 18.20, Permit Processing, while the SEPA appeal procedures should be incorporated in 
Chapter 18.20 and Chapter 20.04, State Environmental Policy Act. 
 
Two separate ordinances have been prepared for the City Council’s consideration.  The one 
pertaining to vesting amends OHMC Chapter 18.20 by adding a new subsection: 18.20.355, 
Vesting.  This new subsection describes when an application vests in a particular set of 
development regulations, which applications are not subject to vesting, how partial vesting might 
apply and defines what is meant by the term ‘development regulations.’ 

 

City of Oak Harbor 
City Council Agenda Bill 

111



Code Amend - Vesting and SEPA.doc 

 
The ordinance providing for administrative appeals of Final Environmental Impact Statements 
proposes amending existing language found in OHMC Chapters 18.20 and 20.04.  In this 
ordinance the existing appeals section of the SEPA code (OHMC 20.04.215) is deleted and 
replaced by language which clearly states which administrative appeals are permitted and 
outlines the appeal process.  Amendments are also proposed to OHMC Chapter 18.20 to simplify 
the language (and increase the readability) of the consolidated appeals process.  The amendment 
addresses how permit and environmental decisions are combined in a single public hearing and 
states which body (hearing examiner or city council) conducts the hearing.  Another amendment, 
deleting reference to SEPA determinations as a review process II, is necessary to help implement 
the changes noted above.  Finally, one housekeeping amendment is proposed (related to when 
appellants must file their appeal memorandums).   
 
PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION 
The Planning Commission conducted a public hearing on the proposed amendments on 
September 28, 2010.  The Commission recommended _________________ of the draft 
ordinances. 
 
STANDING COMMITTEE REPORT 
The proposed code amendments were to the Governmental Services Standing Committee on 
October 12, 2010. 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION 

1. Conduct public hearing on ordinances 
2. Adopt ordinance amending OHMC Chapter 18.20 and providing vesting regulations 
3. Adopt ordinance amending OHMC Chapters 18.20 and 20.04, clarifying the SEPA 

appeal process 
 
ATTACHMENTS 

1. Draft ordinances 
 
MAYOR'S COMMENTS 

112



 

18.20 Vesting Amend Page 1 of 3 
\\City1\planning\WCIA 2009 LU\18.20 vesting amend.doc 

ORDINANCE NO. ___________ 
 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING OAK HARBOR MUNICIPAL CODE CHAPTER 
18.20, PERMIT PROCESSING, LAST AMENDED BY ORDINANCE 1376 IN 2004, 
BY ADDING A NEW SUBSECTION 18.20.355, VESTING. 
 
WHEREAS, a clear understanding of the regulations in effect during the processing of a 
development permit is important to the applicant, the community and the City, and; 
 
WHEREAS, in order to determine the regulations to be applied to a development permit 
the City Municipal Code should clearly state when an application vests in a particular set 
of development regulations, and; 
 
WHEREAS, the processing of development permits in the City of Oak Harbor is largely 
regulated by Oak Harbor Municipal Code Chapter 18.20, Permit Process, and; 
 
WHEREAS, by policy the Oak Harbor Planning Commission reviews and forms a 
recommendation on all amendments to the Municipal Code relating to land use and 
permit processing; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Planning Commission did conduct a public hearing on September 28, 
2010 and forwarded a recommendation to the City Council of approval and; 
 
WHEREAS, the proposed amendment is procedural in nature and is itself not a 
development regulation and so is exempt from SEPA review and review by the 
Department of Commerce; and  
 
WHEREAS, on October 5, 2010, the Oak Harbor City Council did conduct a public 
hearing and consider amending Oak Harbor Municipal Code Chapter 18.20, Permit 
Process; 
 
THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF OAK HARBOR do ordain as follows: 
 
Section One.  There is hereby added a new Section 18.20.355 entitled “Vesting” to Title 
18 of the Oak Harbor Municipal Code to read as follows: 
 
18.20.355 Vesting. 
A. An application for a development permit, to be processed under the city 

development regulations or the Shoreline Master Program, vests at such time as a 
complete application is filed with the development services department and all 
required permit fees are paid. An application is “complete” on the date a complete 
application is filed, as subsequently determined in the letter of completeness 
issued pursuant to Section 18.20.350. An application vested under this subsection 
is not subject to any laws or regulations which become effective after the date of 
vesting, except as provided below.  

 

113



 

18.20 Vesting Amend Page 2 of 3 
\\City1\planning\WCIA 2009 LU\18.20 vesting amend.doc 

B. If a permit application vested under subsection A of this section is approved, and 
that permit approval contemplates one or more future uses or permits on the 
property that are subject to that permit approval, then: 
 
1. If the permit approval contains a detailed description of the uses, including 

a detailed site plan drawn to scale, specifying the location of all buildings 
and improvements to be constructed in conjunction with the use(s), and 
such site plan is consistent with all laws and regulations in effect at the 
time the original application vested, then all permit applications in 
connection with the future use(s) are vested to the laws and regulations in 
effect at the time of the vesting of the original permit application, and laws 
and regulations enacted after that vesting date shall not apply to the future 
use(s) or any permit applications filed in connection therewith;  

 
2. If the development approval does not describe in detail all future uses or 

does not contain a detailed site plan, drawn to scale, specifying the 
location of all buildings and improvements to be constructed in 
conjunction with the future use(s), then the future use(s) shall be subject to 
all later enacted laws and regulations in effect at the time of the vesting of 
any required application for permits in connection with the future use(s). 
Subject to the provisions of this section, it is the intention of this 
subsection that, consistent with other federal, state, and county regulatory 
requirements, an applicant be able to vest his future development rights to 
the level of detail the applicant chooses to show in the application 
documents. 

 
C. Nothing herein shall be construed to restrict the city from imposing conditions on 

development permits pursuant to the State Environmental Policy Act, Chapter 
43.21C RCW, Chapter 197-11 WAC and Chapter 14.12 SCC, as long as such 
conditions do not change any of the requirements of the underlying code section 
pertinent to the particular development permit. 

 
D. Nothing herein shall be construed to prevent the city from imposing new 

regulations necessary to protect the public health and safety, including, but not 
limited to, the requirements of the building, health, and fire codes, as now adopted 
or as subsequently amended. 

 
E. Applications for site plan reviews, rezones, and comprehensive plan amendments 

are not subject to the vesting rules in this section.  These rules also do not apply to 
the application of impact fees or system development charges. 

 
Section Two:  Severability.  If any provision of this Ordinance or its application to any 
person or circumstance is held invalid, the remainder of the Ordinance or the application 
of the provision to other persons or circumstances is not affected. 
 

114



 

18.20 Vesting Amend Page 3 of 3 
\\City1\planning\WCIA 2009 LU\18.20 vesting amend.doc 

Section Three.  Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect five days 
following publication. 
 
 
PASSED by the City Council this 5th day of October, 2010. 
 
(    )  APPROVED by its Mayor this _____ day of _______________, 2010. 
(    )  Vetoed 
       THE CITY OF OAK HARBOR 
 
 
            
  
       Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
 
 
       
City Clerk 
 
Approved as to Form: 
 
 
 
       
City Attorney 
 
Published:       
 

115



SEPA Admin Appeals Page 1 of 6 
\\City1\planning\WCIA 2009 LU\SEPA Admin Appeals Ord.doc 

ORDINANCE NO. ___________ 
 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING OAK HARBOR MUNICIPAL CODE CHAPTERS 
18.20, PERMIT PROCESSING, LAST AMENDED BY ORDINANCE 1376 IN 2004, 
AND CHAPTER 20.04, STATE ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY ACT, LAST 
AMENDED BY ORDINANCE 1141 IN 1998, BY PROVIDING FOR A SEPA 
ADMINISTRATIVE APPEALS PROCEDURE FOR FINAL EIS DETERMINATIONS.   
 
WHEREAS, having clearly articulated review and appeals procedures is an important 
part of the permit and environmental review process, and  
 
WHEREAS, it is necessary to specify which SEPA decisions are administratively 
appealable; and 
 
WHEREAS, it is the City of Oak Harbor’s intention to provide a procedure for 
administrative appeals of final environmental impact statement determinations, and; 
 
WHEREAS, by policy the Oak Harbor Planning Commission reviews and forms a 
recommendation on all amendments to the Municipal Code relating to land use and 
permit processing; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Planning Commission did conduct a public hearing on September 28, 
2010 and forwarded a recommendation to the City Council of approval and; 
 
WHEREAS, the proposed amendment is procedural in nature and is itself not a 
development regulation and so is exempt from SEPA review and review by the 
Department of Commerce; and  
 
WHEREAS, on October 5, 2010, the Oak Harbor City Council did conduct a public 
hearing and considered amending Oak Harbor Municipal Code Chapters 18.20, Permit 
Process and 20.02, State Environmental Policy Act; 
 
THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF OAK HARBOR do ordain as follows: 
 
Section One.  Oak Harbor Municipal Code Section 20.04.215, Appeal, last amended by 
Ordinance 1141 § 24 in 1998, is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 
20.04.215 Appeal. 
 
(1) The following decisions are subject to administrative appeal: 
 

(a) A final determination of DNS. 
 
(b) When any proposal or action not requiring a decision of the city council is 

conditioned or denied on the basis of SEPA by a nonelected official. 

116



SEPA Admin Appeals Page 2 of 6 
\\City1\planning\WCIA 2009 LU\SEPA Admin Appeals Ord.doc 

(c) When both administrative appeal of the final DNS and the substantive 
determination by a nonelected official are allowed, the appeals must be 
consolidated. 

 
(2) Such appeal shall be in accordance with Chapter 1.24 OHMC and shall lie before 

the city council. Appeal must be perfected by giving notice within 15 days of the 
effective date of the decision of the responsible official. 

 
(3) The procedural determination by the city’s responsible official shall carry 

substantial weight in any appeal proceeding. 
 
(4) The city shall give official notice under WAC 197-11-680(5) whenever it issues a 

permit or approval for which a statute or ordinance establishes a time limit for 
commencing judicial appeal.  

 
20.04.215 Appeals. 

 
(1) Any interested person may appeal a threshold determination, adequacy of 

a final EIS and the conditions or denials of a requested action made by a 
non-elected city official pursuant to the procedures set forth in this section. 
No other SEPA appeal shall be allowed. 
 

(2) All appeals filed pursuant to this section must be filed in writing with the 
director within 14 calendar days of the date of the decision appealed from. 
 

(3) On receipt of a timely written notice of appeal, the director shall advise the 
hearing examiner of the pendency of the appeal and request that a date for 
considering the appeal be established. The decision of the hearing 
examiner shall be final and shall not be appealable to the city council. 
 

(4) Appeals shall be governed by the procedures specified in OHMC Chapter 
18.20 and 18.40. 
 

(5) All relevant evidence shall be received during the hearing of the appeal. 
The procedural determination by the city’s responsible official shall carry 
substantial weight in any appeal proceeding. 
 

(6) For any appeal under this section, the city shall provide for a record that 
shall consist of the following: 
 
(a) Findings and conclusions; 
 
(b) Testimony under oath; and 
 
(c) A taped or written transcript. 

 

117



SEPA Admin Appeals Page 3 of 6 
\\City1\planning\WCIA 2009 LU\SEPA Admin Appeals Ord.doc 

(7) The city shall give official notice whenever it issues a permit or approval 
for which a statute or ordinance establishes a time limit for commencing 
judicial appeal. 

 
Section Two:  Oak Harbor Municipal Code Section 18.20.240, Review process II, last 
amended by Ordinance 1376 § 13 in 2004, is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 
18.20.240 Review process II. 
(1) Review process II applies to all permit applications that involve administrative 

decisions wherein significant discretion is involved or there is significant impact 
to other properties. 

 
(2) All review process II administrative decisions made by the reviewing authority 

shall be issued in writing. The reviewing authority may attach to any permit 
approval such conditions as may be necessary to assure compliance with this title, 
other applicable city ordinances and regulations, or any other regulations 
administered by federal or state agencies. 

 
(3) Review process II applications include the following administrative decisions: 
 

(a) Short subdivision approvals of nine lots or less; 
 
(b) Short subdivision alteration or vacation approvals; 
 
(c) Subdivision or short subdivision variances; 
 
(d) Binding site plan and site plan approval where a public hearing is not 

required prior to decision (see Chapter 19.48 OHMC); 
 
(e) Binding site plan variances; 
 
(f) Administrative shoreline permits (less than one acre); 
 
(g) SEPA determinations; 
 
(h)(g) Wetland permit decision under Chapter 20.20 OHMC by the director of 

development services; 
 
(i)(h) Expansion of an existing nonconforming property use; 
 
(j)(i) Other review processes listed in the Oak Harbor Municipal Code as a 

review process II; 
 
(k)(j) Those review processes designated by the director; 
 
(l)(k) Dedication in lieu of park impact fee; 

118



SEPA Admin Appeals Page 4 of 6 
\\City1\planning\WCIA 2009 LU\SEPA Admin Appeals Ord.doc 

 
(m)(l) Landscape approval; 
 
(n)(m) Land clearing permit; 
 
(o)(n) Wireless communication facilities; 
 
(p)(o) Sidewalk deferral; 
 
(q)(p) Water system development charge; 
 
(r)(q) Floodplain development permit; 
 
(s)(r) Floodplain variance; 
 
(t)(s) Landscape – alternative compliance; 
 
(u)(t) Site plan – administrative (see Chapter 19.48 OHMC); 
 
(v)(u) Sewer system development charge; 
 
(w)(v) Joint use agreement for parking; 
 
(x)(w) Accessory dwelling permit; 
 
(y)(x) Pump station requirements under sewer code or water code. 

Review process II decisions are appealable to the hearing examiner. 
 

 
Section Three:  Oak Harbor Municipal Code Section 18.20.520, Consolidated appeals – 
Concurrent review process, last amended by Ordinance 1376 § 34 in 2004, is hereby 
amended to read as follows: 
 
18.20.520 Consolidated appeals – Concurrent review process. 
 
(1) No more than one consolidated open record hearing shall be provided. 
 
(2) All appeals of review process I or II project permit decisions, and any appeal of 

environmental determinations other than an appeal of a determination of 
significance (DS) under SEPA, shall be considered together in a single 
consolidated open record appeal hearing before the highest level body designated 
for public review of a permit applied for under this code hearing examiner. 

 
(3) Any appeal of a SEPA determination (other than a DS) for a review process IV 

land use permit decision shall be considered in a single consolidated open record 
hearing before the highest level body designated for public review of a permit 

119



SEPA Admin Appeals Page 5 of 6 
\\City1\planning\WCIA 2009 LU\SEPA Admin Appeals Ord.doc 

applied for under this code city council (the decision maker for review process IV 
permits as provided for in OHMC 18.20.260). The reviewing authority city 
council shall hold a single consolidated hearing on the SEPA appeal and the land 
use permit application. The reviewing authority city council’s decision on both 
the SEPA appeal and the land use application shall be final. 

 
(4) An appeal of a determination of significance, if filed within 14 calendar days of 

its issuance in accordance with OHMC 18.20.530 shall be heard by the hearing 
examiner in a separate open record hearing, prior to the further processing of the 
land use permit application or issuance of a decision. 

 
Section Four:  Oak Harbor Municipal Code Section 18.20.550, Reports by city staff and 
applicant/appellant, last amended by Ordinance 1376 § 37 in 2004, is hereby amended to 
read as follows: 
 
18.20.550 Reports by city staff and applicant/appellant. 
(1) For any appeal heard pursuant to this title, the following procedure shall apply: 
 

(a) Within 10 calendar days of filing the appeal and at  At least 20 calendar 
days prior to the date of the scheduled hearing on the appeal, the appellant 
shall file with the reviewing authority a memorandum setting forth the 
appellant’s arguments and authority. Such arguments and authority shall 
be restricted to those issues set forth in the appellant’s written appeal 
statement; 

 
(b) At least 10 calendar days prior to the date of the scheduled hearing, city 

staff shall file with the office of the reviewing authority and provide the 
appellant with a staff report responding to the appellant’s memorandum 
concerning the appeal; and 

 
(c) At least five calendar days prior to the date of the scheduled hearing, the 

appellant shall file with the office of the reviewing authority any reply 
memorandum which the appellant desires to file. The scope of the reply 
memorandum shall be restricted to responding to issues raised in the staff 
report. 

 
(2) Failure to comply with the requirements of this title may result in the reviewing 

authority taking such action in regard to the failure as is appropriate including, but 
not limited to, continuing the hearing, postponing the hearing or limiting 
testimony at the hearing. (Ord. 1376 § 37, 2004; Ord. 1278 § 35, 2001). 

 
Section Five:  Severability.  If any provision of this Ordinance or its application to any 
person or circumstance is held invalid, the remainder of the Ordinance or the application 
of the provision to other persons or circumstances is not affected. 
 

120



SEPA Admin Appeals Page 6 of 6 
\\City1\planning\WCIA 2009 LU\SEPA Admin Appeals Ord.doc 

Section Six.  Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect five days 
following publication. 
 
 
PASSED by the City Council this 5th day of October, 2010. 
 
(    )  APPROVED by its Mayor this _____ day of _______________, 2010. 
(    )  Vetoed 
       THE CITY OF OAK HARBOR 
 
 
            
  
       Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
 
 
       
City Clerk 
 
Approved as to Form: 
 
 
 
       
City Attorney 
 
Published:       
 

121


	Shoreline SubstantialDevelopment Conditional UsePermit for Pioneer Way StreetImprovements Project
	ADULT ENTERTAINMENT FACILITIES OVERLAY DISTRICT – PUBLICHEARING
	Adult Day Care Facility:Extension of modular building permit
	2010 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AMENDMENTS – PUBLIC HEARING
	PUBLIC HEARING – CODE AMENDMENTS:DEVELOPMENT APPLICATION VESTINGADMINISTRATIVE APPEALS OF FINAL EIS



